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Charlene Flores <charlene@senatorperez.org>

1st Notice of Virtual Oversight Hearing: Thursday, May 21, 2020 at 5:00 p.m.

Office of Senator Sabina Perez <office@senatorperez.org> Thu, May 14, 2020 at 8:57 AM
To: Claudia.Acfalle@gsadoa.guam.gov, charles.esteves@ghs.guam.gov, haig.huynh@guam.gov, "Leevin T. Camacho"
<law@guamag.org>, "Jessica Toft (AG)" <jtoft@guamag.org>, Lester Carlson <lester.carlson@bbmr.guam.gov>,
sophia.diaz@guam.gov, linda.denorcey@dphss.guam.gov, reporters@kuam.com, Sabrina Salas Matanane
<sabrina@kuam.com>, nestor@kuam.com, Chris Barnett <malafunkshun@kuam.com>, joan@kuam.com,
mindy@postguam.com, editor@postguam.com, John O'Connor <john@postguam.com>, Nick Delgado
<nick@postguam.com>, reporters@postguam.com, news@sorensenmediagroup.com, news@guampdn.com,
news@k57.com, rlimtiaco@guampdn.com, heugenio@guampdn.com, kstokish@gmail.com,
editor@pacificislandtimes.com, Maureen Maratita <publisher@glimpsesofguam.com>,
businesseditor@glimpsesofguam.com, reporter2@glimpsesofguam.com, Guam Progress <guamprogress@yahoo.com>,
colinperez@gmail.com, Gabejereza@gmail.com, "Alexandra Elizabeth T. Benavente" <aebenavente@gdoe.net>
Cc: phnotice@guamlegislature.org
Bcc: charlene@senatorperez.org

May 14, 2020

MEMORANDUM

To:             All Senators, Stakeholders and Media

Fr:              Senator Sabina Flores Perez, Chairperson

Subject:      1st Notice of Virtual Oversight Hearing: Thursday, May 21, 2020 at 5:00 p.m.

The Committee on Environment, Revenue and Taxation, and Procurement will be conducting a
virtual oversight hearing on Thursday, May 21, 2020 at 5:00 p.m. This oversight hearing will take place
virtually via Zoom Video Conference platform. The agenda is as follows:

Procurement
· Review of the procurement process during the current public health emergency

o Quarantine facilities

Those interested in participating, please confirm your attendance by contacting the Office of
Senator Sabina Flores Perez via email at office@senatorperez.org or via phone at 989-2968, no later
than May 19, 2020, for further guidance.

Testimony on the oversight hearing should be addressed to Senator Sabina Flores Perez,
Chairperson, and will be accepted via our mailbox at the Guam Congress Building at 163 Chalan Santo
Papa, Hagåtña, Guam 96910, or via email to office@senatorperez.org, no later than 4pm, May 26,
2020

In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, individuals requiring special accommodations or
services should contact the Office of Senator Sabina Flores Perez at 989-2968.

-- 
Office of Senator Sabina Flores Perez



Committee on the Environment, Revenue & Taxation, and Procurement
I Mina'trentai Singko na Liheslaturan Guåhan
35th Guam Legislature
O: 194 Hernan Cortez Avenue, First Floor, Terlaje Professional Building, Hagåtña, Guam 96910
M: Guam Congress Building, 163 Chalan Santo Papa, Hagåtña, Guam 96910
T: (671) 989-2968     
E: office@senatorperez.org

1st Notice Memo.pdf
329K
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May 14, 2020 
 
MEMORANDUM 
 
To:  All Senators, Stakeholders and Media 
 
Fr:  Senator Sabina Flores Perez, Chairperson 
 
Subject: 1st Notice of Virtual Oversight Hearing: Thursday, May 21, 2020 at 5:00 p.m.  
 

The Committee on Environment, Revenue and Taxation, and Procurement will be 
conducting a virtual oversight hearing on Thursday, May 21, 2020 at 5:00 p.m. This oversight 
hearing will take place virtually via Zoom Video Conference platform. The agenda is as follows: 
 
Procurement  

• Review of the procurement process during the current public health emergency 
o Quarantine facilities 

 
Those interested in participating, please confirm your attendance by contacting the Office 

of Senator Sabina Flores Perez via email at office@senatorperez.org or via phone at 989-2968, no 
later than May 19, 2020, for further guidance. 
 

Testimony on the oversight hearing should be addressed to Senator Sabina Flores Perez, 
Chairperson, and will be accepted via our mailbox at the Guam Congress Building at 163 Chalan 
Santo Papa, Hagåtña, Guam 96910, or via email to office@senatorperez.org, no later than 4pm, 
May 26, 2020 
 
In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, individuals requiring special 
accommodations or services should contact the Office of Senator Sabina Flores Perez at 989-2968. 



Charlene Flores <charlene@senatorperez.org>

2nd Notice of Virtual Oversight Hearing: Thursday, May 21, 2020 at 5:00 p.m.

Office of Senator Sabina Perez <office@senatorperez.org> Tue, May 19, 2020 at 9:09 AM
To: edward.birn@doa.guam.gov, reporters@kuam.com, Sabrina Salas Matanane <sabrina@kuam.com>,
nestor@kuam.com, Chris Barnett <malafunkshun@kuam.com>, joan@kuam.com, mindy@postguam.com,
editor@postguam.com, John O'Connor <john@postguam.com>, Nick Delgado <nick@postguam.com>,
reporters@postguam.com, news@sorensenmediagroup.com, news@guampdn.com, news@k57.com,
rlimtiaco@guampdn.com, haidee@postguam.com, kstokish@gmail.com, editor@pacificislandtimes.com, Maureen
Maratita <publisher@glimpsesofguam.com>, businesseditor@glimpsesofguam.com, reporter2@glimpsesofguam.com,
Guam Progress <guamprogress@yahoo.com>, colinperez@gmail.com, Gabejereza@gmail.com, "Alexandra Elizabeth T.
Benavente" <aebenavente@gdoe.net>, Claudia.Acfalle@gsadoa.guam.gov, Robert Kono <robert.kono@gsa.guam.gov>,
charles.esteves@ghs.guam.gov, haig.huynh@guam.gov, "Leevin T. Camacho" <law@guamag.org>, Lester Carlson
<lester.carlson@bbmr.guam.gov>, sophia.diaz@guam.gov, linda.denorcey@dphss.guam.gov, Sunardi Li
<sli@wgguam.com>, june.borja@guam.gov, "Stephanie G. Flores" <stephanie.flores@guam.gov>,
bertha.duenas@guam.gov, marie.quenga@ghs.guam.gov
Cc: phnotice@guamlegislature.org
Bcc: charlene@senatorperez.org

May 19, 2020
 
MEMORANDUM
 
To:             All Senators, Stakeholders and Media
 
Fr:              Senator Sabina Flores Perez, Chairperson
 
Subject:     2nd Notice of Virtual Oversight Hearing: Thursday, May 21, 2020 at 5:00 p.m.
 

The Committee on Environment, Revenue and Taxation, and Procurement will be conducting a
virtual oversight hearing on Thursday, May 21, 2020 at 5:00 p.m. This oversight hearing will take place
virtually via Zoom Video Conference platform. The agenda is as follows:
 
Procurement

·      Review of the procurement process during the current public health emergency
o   Quarantine facilities

 
Those interested in participating, please confirm your attendance by contacting the Office of

Senator Sabina Flores Perez via email at office@senatorperez.org or via phone at 989-2968, no later
than May 19, 2020, for further guidance.
 

Testimony on the oversight hearing should be addressed to Senator Sabina Flores Perez,
Chairperson, and will be accepted via our mailbox at the Guam Congress Building at 163 Chalan Santo
Papa, Hagåtña, Guam 96910, or via email to office@senatorperez.org, no later than 4pm, May 26,
2020
 
In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, individuals requiring special accommodations or
services should contact the Office of Senator Sabina Flores Perez at 989-2968.



-- 
Office of Senator Sabina Flores Perez
Committee on the Environment, Revenue & Taxation, and Procurement
I Mina'trentai Singko na Liheslaturan Guåhan
35th Guam Legislature
O: 194 Hernan Cortez Avenue, First Floor, Terlaje Professional Building, Hagåtña, Guam 96910
M: Guam Congress Building, 163 Chalan Santo Papa, Hagåtña, Guam 96910
T: (671) 989-2968     
E: office@senatorperez.org

2nd Notice Memo.pdf
329K
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May 19, 2020 
 
MEMORANDUM 
 
To:  All Senators, Stakeholders and Media 
 
Fr:  Senator Sabina Flores Perez, Chairperson 
 
Subject: 2nd Notice of Virtual Oversight Hearing: Thursday, May 21, 2020 at 5:00 

p.m.  
 

The Committee on Environment, Revenue and Taxation, and Procurement will be 
conducting a virtual oversight hearing on Thursday, May 21, 2020 at 5:00 p.m. This oversight 
hearing will take place virtually via Zoom Video Conference platform. The agenda is as follows: 
 
Procurement  

• Review of the procurement process during the current public health emergency 
o Quarantine facilities 

 
Those interested in participating, please confirm your attendance by contacting the Office 

of Senator Sabina Flores Perez via email at office@senatorperez.org or via phone at 989-2968, no 
later than May 19, 2020, for further guidance. 
 

Testimony on the oversight hearing should be addressed to Senator Sabina Flores Perez, 
Chairperson, and will be accepted via our mailbox at the Guam Congress Building at 163 Chalan 
Santo Papa, Hagåtña, Guam 96910, or via email to office@senatorperez.org, no later than 4pm, 
May 26, 2020 
 
In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, individuals requiring special 
accommodations or services should contact the Office of Senator Sabina Flores Perez at 989-2968. 
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AGENDA 
OVERSIGHT HEARING 
Thursday, May 21, 2020 

I Liheslaturan Guahan, Public Hearing Room 
 
The agenda is as follows: 
 
5:00p.m. 
 
Procurement  
• Review	of	the	procurement	process	during	the	current	
public	health	emergency	
o Quarantine	facilities	

 



 

SHEET NO.____ 

Oversight Hearing 
Thursday, May 21, 2020, 5:00pm 

Zoom Video Conference 

Review of the procurement process during the current public health emergency (quarantine facilities). 

NAME 
(please print) 

AGENCY/ 
ORGANIZATION 

ORAL 
TESTIMONY 

WRITTEN 
TESTIMONY CONTACT INFORMATION 

Haig T. Huynh Office of the Governor of 
Guam ✔ ✔ 

 

Sophia Santos Diaz Office of the Governor of 
Guam    

Carlo Branch Office of the Governor of 
Guam    

Charles Estevez Office of Civil Defense    

Marie Quenga Office of Civil Defense    

Jessica Toft Office of the Attorney 
General    

Stephanie Mendiola Office of the Attorney 
General    
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SHEET NO.____ 

Oversight Hearing 
Thursday, May 21, 2020, 5:00pm 

Zoom Video Conference 

Review of the procurement process during the current public health emergency (quarantine facilities). 

NAME 
(please print) 

AGENCY/ 
ORGANIZATION 

ORAL 
TESTIMONY 

WRITTEN 
TESTIMONY CONTACT INFORMATION 

Claudia Acfalle General Services Agency   
 

Edward Birn Department of 
Administration  ✔ 

 

Linda DeNorcey Department of Public 
Health and Social Service   

 

Stephanie Flores Guam State Clearing 
House   

 

Mary Rhodes Guam Hotel and 
Restaurant Association    
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COMMITTEE REPORT DIGEST 

 

I.  OVERVIEW  

 
The Committee on Environment, Revenue and Taxation, and Procurement convened a virtual 
oversight hearing to review the procurement process during the current public health emergency 
on Thursday, May 21, 2020 at 5:00 PM via Zoom Video Conference platform. 
 
Public Notice Requirements 

Public Hearing notices were disseminated via email to all Senators and all main media 
broadcasting outlets on May 14, 2020 and again on May 19, 2020, fulfilling the 5-Day Notice and 
48 Hour Notice of the Open Government Law requirements respectively. 
 
Senators Present 

Senator Sabina Flores Perez   Committee Chairperson 
Vice Speaker Telena Cruz Nelson  Committee Vice Chairperson 
Senator Therese M. Terlaje  Committee Member 
Speaker Tina Muña Barnes  Committee Member 
Senator Kelly Marsh (Taitano), PhD.  Committee Member 
Senator Mary Camacho Torres  Committee Member 
Senator Telo T. Taitague  Committee Member 
Senator Amanda L. Shelton  Legislative Member 
Senator Clynton E. Ridgell  Legislative Member 
Senator Régine Biscoe Lee  Legislative Member 
Senator Joe S. San Agustin  Legislative Member 
Senator Jose “Pedo” Terlaje  Legislative Member 
Senator Louise B. Muna  Legislative Member 
Senator James C. Moylan  Legislative Member 
Senator William M. Castro  Legislative Member 
 
II.  SUMMARY OF TESTIMONY AND DISCUSSION 

 
Chairperson Perez called this virtual oversight hearing to order at 5:00pm. 
 
Chairperson Perez: I would like to go over the rules of conduct for this virtual oversight. So, the 
host of this hearing will mute all participants until called upon by the Chair. Virtual backgrounds 
should not be utilized during this hearing, and participant’s face must be visible at all times. When 
called to speak please ensure that you are unmuted and that you are speaking into your microphone. 
Members of the Committee wishing to speak may indicate their desire to the Chair through the in-
app chat feature. The order of questioning will begin with the Chair, who shall complete the line 
of questioning for each respective Agency. Upon completion of the Agency’s line of questioning, 
the Chair will open the floor up to other members. Each member will be allowed to pose a question 
to an individual Agency testifying for a round, and will be provided for another round, if needed. 
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Note, with the time frame and the number of agencies present, I asked ques—I asked that the 
questions be kept short and not duplicative to allow for all members, a chance to speak. Individuals
 testifying shall be recognized by the Chair before speaking and shall state their name for record-
keeping purposes. Questions and testimony must be confined to the substance or nature of the 
agenda. Personal inference as to the character or motive of any senator or any individual testifying 
is not permitted. Any violations of the General Rule of Conduct will result in removal from the 
oversight hearing by the host. So, I’d like to begin with an opening statement followed by the 
questions. So, basically, I want to thank everyone for being here today, for this oversight hearing. 
Concerns have been raised by members of our community regarding the procurement process for 
hotel spaces for quarantine and isolation of inbound travelers, and catering services for those in 
quarantine, and government officials manning these facilities. These issues have been front and 
center in the recent media coverage and have raised concerns over the procurement process as a 
whole. With little time to react, the pandemic has posed an unprecedented challenge for our people 
and our institutional norms on all fronts, including procurement, have been challenged. Our people 
are resilient, our island has responded to devastating natural disasters such as earthquakes and 
typhoons, which have their endpoints. However, with the global spread of COVID-19 the endpoint 
is not so clear. Issues with procurement have existed before COVID-19, and it is urgent, especially 
now, with the evoking of the Emergency Powers Act, that the process be assessed to ensure 
principles of fair competition and equity remain intact, and that we uphold accountability and 
transparency. To be clear, the Committee has received no complaints that the procurement of hotels 
was, in itself an unnecessary act. Quarantine facilities are a prudent and necessary means of 
combating the pandemic. The Governor and our Public Health officials made the right decision to 
act quickly, and thankfully, we have not had the triage and the mass burials experienced by the 
hard-hit regions such as Spain and Italy. Our overarching goal today is to clarify the Emergency 
Procurement process during COVID-19 pandemic and ensure the Government of Guam is 
following protocols consistent with local and federal guidelines for the reimbursement of 
emergency services. Furthermore, information shared today may elucidate shortcomings in our 
existing procurement processes, and this insight can be used to modernize and strengthen our 
procurement regulations. So, you all are familiar with the background of the timeline of the issue 
leading up to this. So, in January 30th, 2020 the World Health Organization and director declared 
that the novel coronavirus outbreak, a Public Health Emergency of international concern. Late 
January, Department of Public Health and Social Services met with key government agencies to 
discuss protocols in the event of positive tests. March 3rd to March 5th, Department of Public Health 
Social Services holds Pandemic Plan review working sessions. March 10th the Department of 
Public Health and Social Service receives CDC test kits. March 14th Governor issues Executive 
Order 2020-03 declaring a State of Emergency in response to Coronavirus pandemic. March 15th 
the first three positive cases were confirmed on island. March 16th the Governor issues Executive 
Order 2020-04 initiating the mandatory 14-day quarantine for all travelers from areas affected by 
COVID-19. March 21st, so, maybe I’ll save this for later. This could be in the line of questioning. 
So, in addition to the timeline, the FOIA requests have recently been issued to GovGuam agencies, 
highlighting certain concerns regarding the procurement of the quarantine facilities, which we will 
go into later. So, with all these issues being brought up in the news, the Committee wishes to know 
the following:  
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o To what extent was Guam procurement law and regulations pursuant to 5 GCA and 2 
GARR followed?  

o What is the rationale /logic of the procurement process during COVID-19? Under what 
authority were individuals involved in procurement?  

o Who took the lead in procurement of quarantine facilities?  
o With the procurement of quarantine facilities, what are the federal-local procurement laws 

that apply?  
o In what ways do you believe procurement laws can change to prevent confusion or 

misapplication in the future?  
o What are the implications for future procurement, as GovGuam has been granted over 1 

billion dollars of federal funds for COVID-19 relief?  
I want to thank all the parties attending today. I appreciate your cooperation in discussing and 
shedding light on this matter. At a time when so many of us are isolated from one another, we must 
all do what we can to preserve transparency and maintain open lines of communication, so that we 
may sustain our public’s trust and ensure our policies and decisions succeed in helping the island 
through this pandemic. So, to begin with the line of questioning, I would like to recognize the 
Office of the Governor. I do appreciate the members being here today. So, we’re gonna start with 
introductions. So, um, so we have Legal Counsel Haig Huynh, Sophia Diaz and Laurie Tumaneng. 
So, we’ll start with, um. So, Haig, if you can please state the name, your name, for the record. So, 
you want to— 
 
Haig T. Huynh, Legal Counsel, Office of the Governor of Guam: You want to…Oh, I’m sorry. 
 
Chairperson Perez: Please state your name and the Agency in which you are employed. 
 
Attorney Huynh: Ma’am. Haig Huynh, Governor’s Legal Counsel, from the Office of the 
Governor.  
 
Chairperson Perez: And can you briefly describe your overall duties and whether your position 
requires procurement, involves procurement, or requires procurement training pursuant to §5141. 
 
Attorney Huynh: Uh, my job duties and responsibilities are to act as a legal counsel for the 
Governor of Guam, and to do whatever he orders me to do.  
 
Chairperson Perez: Does the Office of the Governor have procurement authority? 
 
Attorney Huynh: Uh, are you asking if the law provides the Office of the Governor with, uh, 
procurement authority?  
 
Chairperson Perez: Yes, that’s one, yeah. That’s one thing. Yeah, basically, does the Office of 
the Governor have procurement authority? 
 
Attorney Huynh: I believe there are people who can procure, uh, traditional procurement, in the 
Office of the Governor, correct.  
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Chairperson Perez: Okay. So, do you understand what authority they’ve been granted that ability, 
or that responsibility?  
 
Attorney Huynh: I’m assuming, uh, (inaudible)…Is that what are you asking, ma’am? 
 
Chairperson Perez: I’m sorry, can you say that again? 
 
Attorney Huynh: I am not understanding your questions clearly, ma’am. Are you asking who has 
given the authority?  
 
Chairperson Perez: Yes. So, under what authority is the Office of the Governor able to procure?  
 
Attorney Huynh: The Guam Code. 
 
Chairperson Perez: I’m sorry, can you...? 
 
Attorney Huynh: The Guam Code, ma’am 
 
Chairperson Perez: Guam Code, specifically?  
 
Attorney Huynh: Ma’am are, uh, do you, uh, are you are you looking for me to give you citations? 
 
Chairperson Perez: Okay, so if you want to fill in the answers later, you can send in a response. 
Okay. So, uh, so going to the issue at hand, is, is this your first Emergency Procurement in an 
emergency situation? 
 
Attorney Huynh: Uh, is this my first time acting in an emergency situation? Yes. Did I act to try 
to procure items? Yes. 
 
Chairperson Perez: Okay. So, explain your role in the procurement during this emergency 
process. 
 
Attorney Huynh: Ma’am, prior to this hearing, we did submit some statements that the Governor 
authorized us to, uh, submit. Based on our relationship, um, both myself and, um, my co-counsel 
Sophia Diaz, we’re limited in what we can say and how we can answer questions. Um, to promote, 
uh, the transparency and the trust that this body has been looking for, we did prepare a statement 
and provided it to you before this hearing. 
 
Chairperson Perez: Okay, so I’m not, I did not get that. When did you send that?  
 
Attorney Huynh: It came from the Office of the Governor. I believe that our chamber clerk sent 
it at, uh, probably around four o’clock, ma’am.  
 
Chairperson Perez: Okay. So, I didn’t I did not get a chance to see that. Can you briefly read the 
statement, if you have it on hand?  
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Attorney Huynh: Yes, I can. Uh, there is one part that pertains to Ms. Diaz. Would you like her 
to read that or would you like me to read the whole thing?  
 
Chairperson Perez: It’s up to you if you want to read. 
 
Attorney Huynh: I’ll just read the whole thing. Uh, it’s dated May 21st, 2020. To the Honorable 
Sabina Flores Perez, Chairwoman on Committee on the Environment, Revenue and Taxation, and 
Procurement; 35th Guam Legislature. From legal counsels Haig Huynh, Legal Counsel Sofia 
Santos Diaz from the Office of Legal Counsel, Office of the Governor of Guam. Attached to this 
was the cover letter from the Governor, where she asserted, uh, where she asserted her attorney-
client privilege for not only our office, but also that of the office of the, of the Attorney General. 
The subject heading on this memo was the Virtual Oversight Hearing on Thursday, May 21st, 2020 
and the body begins: The Governor has authorized her legal counsel to provide the following 
limited statement at this oversight hearing. This authorization shall not be perceived by the 
Chairwoman or the Committee as a waiver of Executive Privilege which includes the 
Gubernatorial Communications Privilege, Deliberative Process Privilege, and the Attorney-Client 
Privilege. Instead, this statement is intended to provide context to previous statements already 
provided to the public on multiple occasions. We ask that this body refer to Attorney General 
Opinion 09-1089 for discussion on these privileges and the Separation of Powers Doctrine. 
Pursuant to the electronic signature issue that I understand that the, uh the body is interested in, 
we are authorized to provide the following statements: Prior to May 1st 2020 the Governor’s Legal 
Office assisted the Director of Department of Public Health and Social Services by attempting to 
account for all documents in which she signed digitally, or with the wet signature. A procedure 
was developed to log the request for her signature and this procedure was developed because 
Department of Public Health and Social—Social Services staff, the Joint Information Center, and 
the Office of the Governor determined that there was a need to have a central repository for all 
items signed by the Director. The procedure entailed personal contact with the Director, whether 
by phone or in person. Then, documentation of the approval would occur by virtue of an email to 
the Custodian of the electronic signature. The Director would receive a copy when finalized. The 
Governor’s Legal Office kept, keeps a log and a copy of each document at its office on behalf of 
the Director. The Governor’s Legal Office sought the Director’s digital signature five times. Each 
time, the Director approved its use. The five times are: on March 29th 2020 uh, for the Public 
Health Guidance Memo number 2020-03; the second time was for letters regarding the use of non-
congregate shelters; those, that request was on April 1st 2020; Neither, none of those letters were 
neither, were ever published or finalized, meaning they were not ever sent out to the intended 
addressees; number three, Public Health to quarantined individuals letters: those were approved 
and finalized on April 3rd, 2020; Public Health Guidance Number 2020-05, those were approved 
and finalized on April 8th, 2020; and Public Health Guidance Memo Number 2020-06, again 
approved on April 8th, 2020. Only four of the five approved uses were ever finalized, sent to 
intended addressees, and/or published. Remaining approved use was prepared, but not finalized, 
delivered or published. Those documents are considered drafts and were mistakenly disclosed in 
response to FOIA requests. The second issue is the procurement of quarantine and isolation 
facilities. Here are the facts that we are prepared to provide: on March 14th, 2020 Governor Lou 
Leon Guerrero issued Executive Order Number 2020-03, declaring a State of Emergency to 
respond to the novel coronavirus, otherwise known as COVID-19. As part of the Order, statutes, 
orders, rules and regulations that would hinder or delay any action necessary to respond to the 



 

194 Hernan Cortes Avenue, Terlaje Professional Building, 1st Floor, Hagåtña, Guam 96910 
671.989.2968•office@senatorperez.org• 

Public Health Emergency were suspended. More specifically, the Governor invoked her authority 
to conduct emergency purchases. The Philippine Government had just announced a surge in 
COVID-19 cases and its President ordered partial closure of the airports. There was an expectation 
of a large influx of potentially infected persons returning to Guam. On March 16th, 2020 Governor 
Leon Guerrero issued Executive Order Number 2020-04 in which she invoked authority under 
10GCA §3333 to restrict entry into Guam; and the authority prescribed in 10GCA §§19604 and 
19605 to isolate and quarantine. March 17th, 2020: it was discovered that the Homeland Security 
Advisor had not procured quarantine or isolation facilities, as previously reported. Homeland 
Security’s reliance on condemning a certain hotel was not approved. Legal Counsels were 
instructed to, and quickly engaged with the Guam Hotel and Restaurant, Restaurant Association 
(GHRA) to seek hotel properties willing to serve as quarantine sites. GHRA was later able to report 
that only the Days Inn, Wyndham Garden, Santa Fe, Perlas Courte, and Pacific Star, responded. 
All those facilities were ultimately utilized. On March 18th, 2020 Legal Counsel contacted BBMR, 
requesting for identification of funds to negotiate with facilities. BBMR provided a formula of 
$100 per room, as for the budget of each property. This would be inclusive of meals, housekeeping 
services, and hotel occupancy taxes. BBMR also directed that it would be the Certifying Officer 
of the Fund, and the Director of the Department of Administration would serve as the Clearing 
Entity. Legal Counsel communicated that GHR—communicated that to GHRA, and who, in turn 
reported that the participating hotels agreed. Legal Counsel utilized the previous template provided 
by the Office of the Attorney General and emailed the draft contract to the Office of the Attorney 
General to review for appropriateness. From March 18th to April 16th Legal Counsel worked with 
the Office of Attorney General to draft that contract. Several versions were drafted due to not only 
the changes in funding sources, but also to the changes in the use of the facilities. For example, 
the facilities were used for quarantine, isolation, and medical staff housing. On March 25th, 2020 
Legal Counsel relinquished management contracts and remainder of procurement to the Office of 
Civil Defense for completion. On March 26th Legal Counsel was informed that the funding source 
previously identified by BBMR was not approved. BBMR indicated that it would continue to seek 
other funding sources, and due to this, Legal Counsel became involved again in the procurement. 
Legal Counsel on April 15th, 2020 sought the assistance of the Chief Procurement Officer to help 
complete the record. On April 16th the Chief Procurement Officer suggested that, pursuant to the 
executive orders, the procurement record may not need to be as detailed as what was previously 
suggested by the Office of the Attorney General. On April 16th Legal Counsel preemptively 
provided Office of the Attorney General with emailed copies of the most recent— [phone rings]—
I’m sorry— [phone rings]—I’m not sure how to do this [hangs phone]. Pardon me. On April 16th 
it was assumed that the draft record and the contracts would be fully executed and ready for a 
formal review. However, those were never transmitted to the Office of the Attorney General. On 
May 8th, 2020 the Governor formalized her use of Emergency Powers invoked by Executive Order 
2020-03, and pursuant to Chapter 19, Title 10 of the Guam Code Annotated. On May 18th, even 
with the benefit of: 1.), a less heightened emergency; 2.), a complete scope of work; 3.), a funding 
source; 4.), set rates; and 5.), full attention dedicated to the procurement in facilities, the 
Government of Guam still needed nearly two weeks to procure two facilities on an emergency 
basis. Also included in this are, is a non-exhaustive list of applicable opinions and laws, with 
emphasis added. The first is Attorney General Opinion 09-1089 which is attached that 
memorandum, and if the, the body would like, Chairwoman would like, I could continue reading 
all the other non-exhaustive list of uh, law that we, uh, thought— 
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Chairperson Perez: Yes, thank— 
 
Attorney Huynh: would be— 
 
Chairperson Perez: Yeah, let’s, let’s uh, we can probably, uh, dis—disseminate that letter to the, 
um, to our, my colleagues. But I’d like to interject here. So, would you, basically, would you 
characterize your role as the, did you take the lead in procuring these facilities? 
 
Attorney Huynh: Ma’am, my statement is limited to what the Governor has allowed me to, uh, to 
state in written statement, but if you’re asking if I did what I wrote down on this document and 
have just read to you, then the answer is yes.  
 
Chairperson Perez: Okay, and under what authority were you using to procure, if you can cite 
any particular laws that authorized the procuring?  
 
Attorney Huynh: Ma’am, the Organic Act of Guam allows the Governor to act in whichever way 
possible to make sure that she protects the health and safety of our people. At the time, there was 
no, uh, there was no options provided to her. We were faced with certain pending emergencies and 
I believe that the Organic Act of Guam and also all the other powers that are granted to her under 
Title 9—Title 10, Chapter 19 of the Guam Code Annotated allowed her to direct me to do whatever 
she thought was fit at that time.  
 
Chairperson Perez: So, I’m looking at the Executive Order. So, Executive Order 2020-03, it 
states, it basically reiterates the Emergency Health Powers Act and it, it says that, pursuant to §9—
19403(a)(1) Chapter 19, Title 10 Guam Code Annotated statutes, orders, rules and regulations that 
prevent, hinder, or delay necessary action to prepare for, or respond to this Public Health 
Emergency, including but not limited to purchases and hiring, are hereby suspended. To your 
knowledge, what, were there any rules that have been suspended?  
 
Attorney Huynh: Ma’am, I, if you’re asking me to specifically write out a memo for you to list 
out all the rules in the procurement law that were suspended, I could do that for you at a later time. 
I’m not able to resuscitate and recite everything that you’re asking me to do right now.  
 
Chairperson Perez: Alright, I appreciate that, the follow up. In your understanding of that, 
suspension of statutes, does that allow for procurement authority? Does it [inaudible] equals 
authority to procure? 
 
Attorney Huynh: Ma’am, again I’m limited to, my role is to give advice to my client which is the 
Governor of Guam. If the Legislature is asking for a legal opinion, I don’t think I’m authorized to 
do that, ma’am.  
 
Chairperson Perez: Okay. So, you were mentioning in your letter that there was, at some point 
you were taking the lead in procurement. And then you basically handed it off to the Office of 
Civil Defense, um…  
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Attorney Huynh: May I interject, ma’am? My statement was that I did, I did not take the lead. I 
was directed to contact GHRA. I was not taking the lead in procurement. 
 
Chairperson Perez: Okay. Um, so what was your role—if you could just explain your role in the 
obtaining or, in the role in, in getting the lease agreements with the hotels.  
 
Attorney Huynh: Uh, as I stated ma’am, the statements, I think, are self-clarifying. Uh, there were 
no hotels or quarantine sites available. I was tasked to speak with GHRA, uh, I found a funding 
source. I tried to get everything that could be done within the short amount of time. Um, you’ve 
seen thousands of people coming to Guam, not knowing the extent of what COVID can do to our 
island at the time.  
 
Chairperson Perez: So, who was the Procuring Officer who took the leading roles in the 
procurement of the quarantine facilities?  
 
Attorney Huynh: Ma’am, I think those are, uh, kinda, uh, I’ve answered the questions that I can 
answer. If you’re asking who is the procurement, it depends on what you’re defining as 
procurement. I was tasked to try to get these hotels and try to do it as, as I, as quickly as I can. And 
I believe I followed everything that I’ve needed to do.  
 
Chairperson Perez: Okay. So, can you speak to who was the one, the Procuring Officer of these 
hotels, quarantine facilities? We’ll just move on [inaudible] Could you provide the Committee 
with the SOPs for digital signatures? 
 
Attorney Huynh: I just recited to you, ma’am, and it’s in the, uh, it will be in the letter that I, uh, 
that was provided to you.  
 
Chairperson Perez: Okay. And, can you give us a brief explanation of why FEMA was not able 
to reimburse for the quarantine facilities. What was reason for that [inaudible] 
 
Attorney Huynh: I don’t know if that was the case, and that’s not within my realm, ma’am.  
 
Chairperson Perez: Okay. So, I would like to give an opport—well, I would like to move on to 
the next—did you in any way, negotiate with the hotels to, to get GovGuam a lease for these 
quarantine facilities?  
 
Attorney Huynh: Ma’am at this moment, so that I don’t in, um, overstep what my client has 
allowed me to, to say uh I would like to defer to that written statement that has been read and 
previously provided to the, this committee. 
 
Chairperson Perez: Okay. Alright. So, I would like to give up—first I’d like to recognize Senator 
Wil Castro and Senator Therese Terlaje, who have joined us. I would like to give my colleagues 
at least one round of questions for the Office of the Governor. So, I would like to recognize Speaker 
Muña Barnes. If you can unmute yourself, Speaker. Or if, sorry, if there’s anyone who has signed 
up to ask questions. 
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Speaker Muña Barnes: Si Yu’os Ma’åse’ uh, Madam Chair. And thank you for giving me the 
opportunity to, uh, to ask my questions and I did have a couple of parts but maybe I’m just gonna 
ask, whoever can answer this from the government’s perspective, I’m going to go ahead and 
preface this with, with uh, 10GCA, Chapter 19 and I’m going to quote the, the definition of the 
‘Public health authority’ the 19—10GCA, Chapter 19 sub-item L, “the determination of ‘Public 
health authority’ shall be determined by the governor based upon the circumstances of the public 
health emergency.” That’s one citation. The other one I have is the Power of the Governor, uh, 
Chapter 19, 10GCA 19403(a) Emergency Powers During a State of Public Health Emergencies I 
Maga’ Hågan Guåhan may, and it talks about sub-item 2 “utilize all available resources of the 
government of Guam, as reasonably necessary to respond to the public health emergency,” and 
then I will proceed on to, uh, Chapter 19 of 10GCA §19601 the ‘Protection of Persons’. “During 
a state of public health emergency, the public health authority shall use every available means to 
prevent the transmission of infections, infectious disease and to ensure that all cases of contagious 
disease are subject to proper control and treatment.” And then, I will also note, uh, the Governor’s 
power to quarantine which is Chapter 19, 10GCA, Guam Code Annotated, which, I would quote 
on §19604 the “Authorization. During the public health emergency, the public health authority 
may isolate, consistent with the definition of ‘isolation’ in §19103(h) or quarantine, consistent with 
the definition of ‘quarantine’ in §9103(o), an individual or group of individuals. This includes 
individuals or groups who have not been vaccinated, treated, tested or examined pursuant to 
§§19602 and 19603. The public health authority may also establish and maintain places of isolation 
and quarantine, and set rules” make orders and failures “to obey these rules, orders or provisions 
shall constitute a misdemeanor.” So, as I’m reading these citations, or these provisions within 10 
Guam Code Annotated, Chapter 19 my question, in part, is for anybody on the Administration, uh, 
more specifically, if, I don’t know, if, is, Public Health is here, um, how long would, in order—
how long would this delay—um, the ability to quarantine passengers, take, if the Emergency Power 
procurement was not in place, and how long would it take for the procurement to be implemented 
if these provisions were not in place? And what is the potential impact for the island as a whole, if 
this was not created? So I, I give that to anybody in the Administration.  
 
Attorney Huynh: Ma’am, I can answer that for you. Are you asking that, how much time it would 
have taken to use Emergency Procurement versus the Emergency Purchases Power?  
 
Speaker Muña Barnes: Yes, and the— 
 
Attorney Huynh: Ma’am if— 
 
Speaker Muña Barnes: Of the, of the effect of those passengers arriving, based on, you talked 
about Duterte and others who were traveling back home, or through, transiting through here, how 
many of that would have been in the general population without quarantine if those weren’t either 
expeditiously, or having to go through the timeline? 
 
Attorney Huynh: Ma’am, I don’t have the numbers for you, in terms of the amounts of planes 
that were coming in, but we were expecting full planes that, on March 18th through the 22nd. Um, 
in terms of the length of time, I can answer that, based on our statement. That had taken us on, up 
until May 18th and it took us two weeks to procure under an Emergency Procurement basis to get 
two facilities. And that is with the, with the benefit of having the less heightened emergency, a 
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complete scope of work, a, a funding source, the set rates, and the full attention of all of the 
necessary agencies to [inaudible] procurement of these quarantine facilities we did not have those 
benefits, ma’am, on March 17th. It came up on us and we didn’t have any facilities in sight, we 
didn’t have a, we didn’t have a funding source and we were lucky to have Ms. Mary Rhodes that 
was able to help us do everything that she did, and get these hotels that were all scared uh, for the 
COVID-19 to help us in the way that she did, and we’re very thankful for the GHRA. 
 
Speaker Muña Barnes: Okay, so if you’re saying the facilitation was with, uh, the Guam Hotel 
and Restaurant Association with Mary Rhodes, was it facilitated with the Administration through 
the Guam Hotel and Restaurant Association or through the designee of Mary Rhodes, the price 
quotes for each of these hotels and the number of what could, uh, be utilized, uh, for that as all 
these hotels were mentioned? [inaudible voice] 
 
Attorney Huynh: Yes.  
 
Speaker Muña Barnes: Say that again. The answer is? 
 
Attorney Huynh: The latter, ma’am. It was, all the, all the specifics were done by Ms. Mary 
Rhodes from the GHRA. Uh, we just told her what our budget was. 
 
Speaker Muña Barnes: And the facilitation to get all the price quotes was, was, was, was 
delineated in, in collaboration with GHRA. Or, with Mary Rhodes, I’m sorry GHR—  
 
Attorney Huynh: Yes, ma’am. The GHRA was the only method in which I, I’m not sure if you 
know ma’am, but I’m only been here for a few years and I don’t have the contacts that other people 
do, and when I was tasked with this I could only speak with the one woman that knew everything 
in this regard, and that was Ms. Mary Rhodes from GHRA. 
 
Speaker Muña Barnes: But the Administration did receive a delineation of price quotes from 
Miss Rhodes? 
 
 Attorney Huynh: Uh, yes, ma’am. Yes. 
 
Speaker Muña Barnes: Okay. Uh, Madam Chair, I, I, I know you only asked for one question 
each and I’m hoping that you can give me an opportunity to ask another question regarding 
[inaudible]. 
 
Chairperson Perez: In the interest of time, I would like to give opportunities for other senators if, 
if you can hold that question for later.  
 
Speaker Muña Barnes: Thank you, Madam Chair. 
 
Chairperson Perez: Thank you. Uh, Senator Régine Biscoe Lee, you have the floor. You can 
unmute yourself. 
 
Senator Lee: Thank you, Madam Chair. Can you hear me?  
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Chairperson Perez: Yes. I can hear you.  
 
Senator Lee: Okay. Thank you, very much. And thank you, everybody for joining us on this 
evening. My question is with regard to the payment for hotels leased as quarantine facilities, as 
well as the Tier 2 clinics. So I’m not sure if this is a question for attorney, attorney Huynh or maybe 
Mr. Birn from DOA. But I wanted to ask, um, at today’s press conference, the Governor stated 
that Tier 2 clinics have not received payment because the government has not received invoices 
from these clinics. And I wanted to ask, why have these invoices not been submitted? Are Tier 2 
clinics under the impression that the government is not ready to accept them, at this time, or just 
that these clinics haven’t submitted the invoices yet? … I’m just trying to wrap my mind around 
how we’re able to procure hotel accommodations for quarantine facilities and why we haven’t 
been able to pay these Tier 2 clinics, yet.  
 
Chairperson Perez: So, Haig, you need to unmute yourself. 
 
Senator Lee: So, I’m not sure if that’s a question for, for Haig or if it’s a question for Mr. Birn.  
 
Attorney Huynh: Oh, I…Ma’am I think the misconception uh, in terms of payment I can’t tell 
you that answer. But in terms of the clinics, uh, I can tell you that we don’t have a, an MOU.  
 
Chairperson Perez: Okay. Vice Speaker Nelson, do you have a question? 
 
Vice Speaker Nelson: I don’t have questions at this time, Madam Chair.  
 
Chairperson Perez: Alright. I just want, so, does anybody remember, I don’t have a listing of 
who is next, who has messaged me. Okay, so I’ll just go ahead with the follow-up question. So, 
you were mentioning that you were in contact with Mary Rhodes from Guam Hotel and Restaurant 
Association and she provided you with information. Then procured the lea—or, who, then, 
followed through with the leases of the, of the quarantine hotels?  
 
Attorney Huynh: Ma’am, I really don’t understand your line of questions, I don’t mean to be 
disrespectful and I, I’m trying to answer your questions, but you keep on referring to, uh, to that. 
And I can only tell you what I did, but I, I don’t know what you are meaning by, you keep, uh, 
asking who’s procuring or who’s, you know I can only tell you what I’ve done.  
 
Chairperson Perez: Okay. So, would you, is this accurate to say that you, so this, um, so in your 
communication with Mary Rhodes did you ever reach out to Bart Jackson, of Hotel Santa Fe or 
Sunardi Li, of Days Inn and Wyndham Hotel? 
 
Attorney Huynh: Ma’am, my statement will be the most accurate for you to refer to. 
 
Chairperson Perez: So, in your recollection, did you know who then, completed the procurement 
of the leased hotels or quarantine facilities?  
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Attorney Huynh: Can I ask you what, how you’re defining procurement? Maybe that will help 
us, uh, guide this along.  
 
Chairperson Perez: Sure, I can refer to the definition, itself. That would help clear up, let me just 
look for the… 
 
Attorney Huynh: The definition on Title 5, ma’am? 
 
Chairperson Perez: Yeah, and 5030(o) there’s a definition for procurement there…  
 
Attorney Huynh: That’s not what we used, ma’am. We used the authority under Title 10.  
 
Chairperson Perez: Yeah. So, can you clarify what the definition is in that, Title 10 procurement  
 
Attorney Huynh: There’s no definition, ma’am.  
 
Chairperson Perez: There is no definition of procurement. So, what is the definition that you 
used? 
 
Attorney Huynh: [Mr. Carlo Branch, background: “Emergency Purchase Power” The Governor 
invoked her Emergency Purchase Power. Um, I could, that’s under, I…Could I, you, you didn’t 
let me finish, or you opted to not have me read all the applicable laws, would you like me to do 
that, now? Would that be more helpful? 
 
Chairperson Perez: If you can basically [inaudible]to that. So, you’re basically stating that the 
Procurement Authority is under Title 10 and you use the word ‘purchase’. Is there a definition of 
‘purchase’ in that, in that law? Or what does— 
 
Attorney Huynh: So, ma’am, if I could just read you, there’s, um, words are used differently in 
Title 10. So, in the law when you might think there’s a definition, uh, or something in one section, 
it might mean something else in another section. So that is the case when you compare Title 5 to 
Title 10. 
 
Chairperson Perez: Okay. So, being that is no definition, so how would you characterize 
‘purchase’ under Title 10? 
 
Attorney Huynh: Ma’am, I could read the law for you, but I can’t give you an interpretation on 
it. But I, I’ll, could I do that for you, now?  
 
Chairperson Perez: Well, actually I have the law, itself, and under Title 10 the ‘procuring 
authority’ is the Public Health Authority. And, to your understanding, who, who is the Public 
Health Authority?  
 
Attorney Huynh: Ma’am I don’t believe that’s what Title 10 says, I, in fact, I think the Speaker, 
uh, articulated very well, all the various parts of Title 10 that are relevant in this case, so, uh, she 
said it quite succinctly. And unfortunately— 
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Chairperson Perez: My unders— 
 
Attorney Huynh: I can’t, I can’t give the Legislature legal advice because you’re not my, my 
clients and I have a very limited ability with my license. 
 
Chairperson Perez: Okay. So, Chapter 10, are we talking about the Emergency Health Powers 
Act, is that what we’re referring to, just to be clear?  
 
Attorney Huynh: Title 10, Chapter 19.  
 
Chairperson Perez: Right, so the, the authority is granted to the Public Health Authority. And, to 
your understanding, who has the ‘public health authority’ according to this law? 
 
Attorney Huynh: Ma’am, if I, if I could just point you to the Organic Act and Title 10 Chapter 
19, I believe that authority lies somewhere else. And, and again, I don’t want to run into the risk 
of, of giving legal advice or doing anything outside of my scope, but I believe all the law is there. 
Um, the governor is, uh, the greatest authority when it comes to emergency situations.  
 
Chairperson Perez: So, under Chapter 10, Chapter 9—Title 10, Chapter 19 it states that the 
‘public health authority’ is the Director of the Department of Public Health, and according to the 
Executive Order 2020-30, it identifies authority as the Director of Public Health and Social 
Services. She is the ‘authority’ that has authority to procure. Under, and under Executive Order 
2020-03 it states, under the approval of the Governor. So really, the authority was given to the 
Director of Department of Public Health and Social Services. The Governor has been divested of 
any procuring authority.  
 
Attorney Huynh: Ma’am, I, if there’s, um, if you can give me a written question, then perhaps I 
can answer that better for you. I’m not going to pretend that I know all the law or can do all the 
research ad hoc, right now. But uh, but I would like to point out that there’s, the Organic Act, 48 
USC §1421g.(a) Public Health Services. I think that um, that might answer your question.  
 
Chairperson Perez: Okay. So, I have other colleagues I would like to ask a question. Senator 
Marsh Taitano. You’re, you have the floor. 
 
Senator Marsh (Taitano): Si Yu’os Ma’åse’, Madam Chair. So, just a few questions, I think the 
one, like, that might be most relevant now I’ll, I’ll stick with that one. And I, I do want to mention 
before I go to that question, is, I really like the format of the questions that you have and I really 
appreciated that the last question that you have in order is for us to look at this situation. We’ve 
mentioned so many times that it’s unprecedented, that there are a lot of moving parts, there are 
things that we haven’t had to do before. And so, not only having an oversight to ensure that we 
understand the process, the process was done properly, but for us all to be looking at whether 
there’s any need, going forward, to change or improve the process. So, I just wanted to mention 
that I thought that is a very valuable part of this oversight hearing. So, my question is related to 
the holding fee of the unused rooms. And since Mr. Huynh was part of that negotiation on-again, 
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off-again, perhaps he’s the most, he’s the one to best answer that. As to how the holding fee of the 
unused rooms, how that was arranged and how the rate was arrived at.  
 
Attorney Huynh: Uh, ma’am, I just got numbers and I worked with GHRA and that is what was, 
that was what was arrived at. 
 
Senator Marsh (Taitano): So you’re saying that GHRA was the one who attained the numbers, 
somehow. Either negotiated, or whatever, and you’re not here to speak for her, but she was the one 
who provided you numbers and, at that point, there was—there was or was not negotiation, or did 
you work the numbers she provided?  
 
Attorney Huynh: Ma’am, I could read the portions over again. I don’t know what you mean by 
‘holding fee’ I can just tell you that I was given parameters, uh, after, with working with, uh, Mary 
Rhodes, BBMR got parameters, I gave those parameters to Mary Rhodes and that’s where uh, we 
ended up.  
 
Senator Marsh (Taitano): Okay, so you mentioned $100 fee per room. But I believe rooms that 
were not being used were also paid for, so are you saying that rooms that were used and rooms 
that were held to potentially be used, that those were also $100 a room? 
 
Attorney Huynh: Uh, the contracts that were [inaudible] with the, uh, Governor’s order to use 
Emergency Purchase Powers, those indicate that there was $100 for a room formula.  
 
Senator Marsh (Taitano): Okay, so the formula across the board. And, um, was, was the deal 
that was presented to you by Ms. Rhodes, was it hotel as a whole, like it was kind of, all or nothing? 
That they were offering all, and that if you were to create a contract it was going to be the whole 
hotel or a certain block of the hotel? Was it presented that way and then that was what was 
accepted? 
 
Attorney Huynh: Um, ma’am I’m limited to my [inaudible] I’m sorry that I couldn’t disseminate 
it prior, but I believe if you, when you get the statement, that might answer your question. And 
also, if you review the contracts that were prepared but not ultimately executed in the traditional 
sense, you’ll get those answers.  
 
Senator Marsh (Taitano): Okay, and I have been provided that, um, because it arrived so close 
to this, along with the others I have not had a chance to review it, but I think it will be important 
to review that. So, I do have other questions, oh, but I will wait until it goes around.  
 
Chairperson Perez: Okay, thank you Senator Marsh, Senator Telo Taitague, if you can unmute 
yourself. 
 
Senator Taitague: Si Yu’os Ma’åse’, Madam Chair, for the opportunity to speak, and hello, 
everybody, thank you so much for being here. I know it’s hard after work you’re all tired hopefully 
this will go by quick as possible. And thank you, so much, Haig, for being here today. Uh, coming 
on. There’s been a lot of talk that you wouldn’t come so I’m glad to see that you’re here. And, you 
know, since the last speaker was talking about Mary Rhodes, I just, trying to put my head around 
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this, um, that I’ve heard to Mary Rhodes, personally, that the only thing that she shared with you 
was a point-of-contact information for Santa Fe and the Pacific Star. She was never present in the 
meets with Santa Fe or Pacific Star, and that she was only in the first meeting with the Days Inn 
and the Wyndham. This is something I’ve heard from something she texted, actively. And it’s 
unfortunate that she’s not here, but I just got word that she’s trying to call in right now, Madam 
Chair, to get on online so that she can confirm exactly what transpired during these negotiations. 
And I think it would be very helpful, because hearing from this text that I received, it doesn’t sound 
like she was the negotiator, at all, in these proceedings. And that being said, Madam Chair, I hope 
staff can try and get her on. And you know, Haig, I appreciate this, this letter that you sent and, 
it’s, you know, dated chronologically on the dates and everything like that, but it is just so 
disingenuous to send it to us a half an hour before these meetings so that we can actually review 
these notes that you made or these comments that you made, so that we can, you know ask, 
questions that pertain to it. For instance, the section where you said on, the Governor’s Legal’s 
Office sought the Director’s digital signatures five times; each time, the Director approved its, its 
use. And then this section, here, that go—that says number two, letters regarding use of non-
congregate shelters April 1st, 2020: not finalized or published. Are you meaning to say that you 
used her signature on that letter, but you didn’t send it out, yet? Is that what that kind of means, 
that her signature, the Director’s signature was honored but, but you didn’t use it? And is this the 
letter in question as to what Linda has said on countless radio shows and public hearings, that she 
does not recall signing anything? Is, is that the section you’re talking about on number two, Haig?  
 
Attorney Huynh: Uh, so first of all, ma’am I’m sorry that you, uh, view my attempts to give, uh, 
this body as much information as possible and as clear possible as disingenuous. I have been trying 
to—  
 
Senator Taitague: It’s just the time. It’s just the time. You provided to us, it’s a half an hour 
before this meeting and, you know it’s just very, okay, that’s all.  
 
Attorney Huynh: They’re just other, other matters that, that took my time as well, while I was 
trying to work on it, so I apologize for that short duration. I’ll try to do better next time. The other— 
 
Senator Taitague: Maybe we can do a follow-up. Well, yeah, if we review this more, we can do 
a follow-up meeting, maybe next time. Thank you, Haig. Anyways, continue. I’m sorry to 
interrupt.  
 
Attorney Huynh: Yes, ma’am, the other issue, ma’am, is uh, let me, could you rephrase the last, 
oh, in terms of the, the— 
 
Senator Taitague: Number two. Yeah.  
 
Attorney Huynh: The two. So if you’re asking if those are the letters that are, that were mistakenly 
issued as, um, as part of the FOIA, that is correct. Those are the ones that were never finalized. 
 
Senator Taitague: But the— 
 
Attorney Huynh: But the digital signature was approved. And, um—  
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Senator Taitague: And, and 
 
Attorney Huynh: Mr. Esteves— 
 
Senator Taitague: This is the letter that Linda DeNorcey claims she doesn’t recall, right, Haig? 
Is that the, number one, too?  
 
Attorney Huynh: Uh, I don’t believe that that’s a fair statement of what she has said but I do, I 
do think that the, uh, my statement does explain what, what was the occurrence there. 
 
Senator Taitague: Oh, what, I’m just taking from what she said on a, a couple of radio stations 
when she came on, that, that’s what she said, she does not recall these things. So, just real quickly, 
sorry Madam Chair, the other question I had is, if these negotiations happened, and I heard that 
payment was made before a contract was signed. Is that true to form?  
 
Attorney Huynh: [Mr. Branch in background: “It depends on the form.”] It depends on what 
you’re asking, ma’am, at this point, are you asking if there’s contracts that have been signed 
already? The answer to your— 
 
Senator Taitague: No, uh, I think Mr. Birn was trying to answer that one, he might be a better 
person to ask, but from what I heard, that there, uh, these quarantine facilities, some payments 
were actually made prior to the signature of any contract or any agreement that was made. Is that—
and I guess Mr. Birn or, or Homeland Security might want to chime in here, Charles, because, 
don’t you have to also agree to these payments? 
 
Charles V. Esteves, Administrator, Office of Civil Defense: So, uh, so I’m not a member of 
Homeland Security, I’m a member of Office of Civil Defense. Um...  
 
Senator Taitague: Oh, uh, sorry. Sorry. 
 
Mr. Esteves: So, I can only speak upon things that were procured at our office.  
 
Senator Taitague: Okay so it wasn’t procure—okay, so Ed Birn, then, I guess you’re, was there 
any payment made? 
 
Edward Birn, Director, Department of Administration: My understanding is this: that some 
payments were made, but there is no there is no signed agreement. So, some payments were made, 
but none of these had any signed agreement. Some of these payments were made in, about six 
weeks ago. Some of them were made when I received instruction from the Governor to make the 
payments. 
 
Senator Taitague: Wow. Okay. So, that answers my question. So, Madam Chair, I’ll reserve the 
remaining questions, but this, I think may be extended to even more investigation onto how do you 
make a payment for something that has never been signed into agreement? Thank you, Madam 
Chair. I’ll reserve for the remaining.  
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Chairperson Perez: Thank you, Senator. Next, is— 
 
Attorney Huynh: May I, may I, may I articulate on that just make sure that the context is, uh, is 
clear, here? So under the— 
 
Chairperson Perez: Yes—   
 
Attorney Huynh: So, under the Emergency Power, the Governor did issue an order citing her 
power and I think that’s attached to all the contracts that we did send to your office, Madam 
Chairwoman, and that is the authority that Director Birn was working under.  
 
Chairperson Perez: Okay. Alright thank you, um, Senator Telo Taitague. Next on the list is 
Senator Amanda Shelton. You have the floor.  
 
Senator Shelton: Thank you, Madam Chair. Thank you, everyone for being here today. Attorney 
Huynh, I appreciate the timeline that you provided for us, and yes I will need some time to digest 
it a little more but I’m looking at the March 17 date that you provided and, can you just provide 
us a little more context about this situation? So, you were relying on Homeland Security to 
condemn a hotel, can you explain to us why that process didn’t go through and who was it that 
instructed you to, as the legal counsel, to, to begin the process on your own since the Homeland 
Security route didn’t work out? 
 
Attorney Huynh: So, ma’am I, I don’t I don’t believe that was a full accurate recitation of the 
statement but I can tell you that the Governor ordered me to act and, and I, I acted and the rest of 
the information would be in that statement. Would you like me to read that again, ma’am?  
 
Senator Shelton: Well if you can just give context to the line about ‘Homeland Security’s reliance 
on condemning a certain hotel was not approved’, can you give explanation as to why it wasn’t 
approved?  
 
Attorney Huynh: Uh. Condemning is a much… ma’am, I have to stick to my statement, but if 
you could refer to the various laws that I gave you on that memo, you can see that the differences 
between emergency purchase versus condemning and taking someone’s property without their 
consent.  
 
Senator Shelton: Sure. Okay, thank you. And thank you, Madam Chair.  
 
Chairperson Perez: Thank you, Senator Shelton. Um, next person is, oh, so before we continue, 
I’d like to welcome Mary Rhodes, thank you for joining us, as well as, I believe Lester Carlson, is 
he here, still?  
 
Lester Carlson, Director, Bureau of Budget Management and Research: Yes, ma’am.  
 
Chairperson Perez: Okay, where are you, Lester. Are you able to put your visual on the screen?  
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Mr. Carlson: Ma’am, I’m a little bit impaired in that regard, but I’m here. On, audio, I’m 
following everything. 
 
Chairperson Perez: Okay, so— 
 
Mr. Carlson: I’m available. 
 
Chairperson Perez: Okay. Before we continue, I would like to request our Sergeant-at-Arms to 
swear you in. 
 
Mr. Carlson: I swear. 
 
Chairperson Perez: Both Mary Rhodes and Lester Carlson. 
 
Thomas J. Unsiog, Sergeant-At-Arms, Guam Legislature: Okay. Okay, can I have Mary—  
 
Senator Taitague: Madam [inaudible] to see Lester Carlson. Madam Chair, I’m sorry to interrupt, 
but how can we tell that Mr. Carlson is lifting up his right hand on the swearing-in, Madam, Chair, 
so we need him, visually.  
 
Mr. Carlson: Senator Taitague, you’ve known me for a long time. I’ve had a difficult time getting 
on this thing, ask Mr. N, ask Mr. Barry. I’ve been trying very hard to be, to participate. So, with 
all due respect, I am here.  
 
Senator Taitague: Well, with all due respect, I think the sergeant-of-arms needs to see you, Lester 
and, yes I have known you for a long time. Thank you for making the attempt to come on, but the 
sergeant-of-arms needs to see you  
 
Mr. Carlson: Tom can you see me?  
 
Mr. Unsiog: Um, no, but I just see a sign, uh, logo. 
 
Mr. Carlson: Hey, Tom, but you know who I am, Tom. I affirm, Tom. 
 
Mr. Unsiog: Heh. Madam Chair just let me know what the instructions are. 
 
Mr. Carlson: Madam Chair, I asked, I, I presented this issue to you ever since this morning. 
 
Chairperson Perez: Yes— 
 
Mr. Carlson: It took me a very, very, long, difficult time to participate. I am participating.  
 
Chairperson Perez: Yeah, we did offer our visual conferencing, um, many—  
 
Mr. Carlson: Yes and I, I respectfully declined due to social distancing. So, let’s put this on record. 
Yes, you did, and yes I declined exactly because of social distancing. I do not want to expose 
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myself unnecessarily, I am an at-risk person. I don’t want to do that. So, thank you, I’m 
participating. 
 
Chairperson Perez: Um, I feel that, um, since he’s [inaudible] confirmed, we’ll… 
 
Speaker Muña Barnes: Accept it. Accept the swearing-in. We can, we can—Håfa Adai, Madam 
Chair, if I may, if I may interject, please. We can affirm that Mr. Lester Carson is on, we can attest 
his voice, a lot of us know his voice, if we just have our Sergeant-at-Arms have him affirmed that 
should be, at least, and we could also do information and voice tracing to affirm that it is him. 
Please, go ahead and accept the Sergeant-at-Arms to do the swearing in. Please, so in the interest 
of time…  
 
Chairperson Perez: I think the, his testimony is important. I’m sorry. Sorry, Senator Telo?  
 
Senator Taitague: Thank you, Madam, thank you Madam Chair. It’s just that, you know, I think 
the Sergeant-at-Arms needs to see this right hand is up. You know, I have objections of Lester 
contributing in, but you know, he doesn’t have the ability just, to be sworn in but I don’t mind 
hearing what he has to say.  
 
Chairperson Perez: Yes, it does, it does [inaudible] that is inadequate [inaudible] so I guess with 
a qualification that, you know, he hasn’t been sworn in properly. He can contribute to the 
conversation, but he’s not properly sworn in. So, Sergeant-at-Arms if you swear in Mary Rhodes 
at this time. 
 
Mr. Unsiog: Hello? 
 
Mary Rhodes, President, Guam Hotel and Restaurant Association: Hi, Tom. 
 
Mr. Unsiog: Yes. Can you hear me? Okay. Raise your right hand and, I guess you can participate 
as well, uh, Lester. Under penalties of perjury do you all affirm that any and all information that 
you provide today, whether it be verbally, electronically and in writing, be the truth, the whole 
truth, and nothing but the truth, so help you God?  
 
Ms. Rhodes: Yes, I affirm.  
 
Mr. Carlson: I affir—I affirm. 
 
Mr. Unsiog: Okay, Madam Chair. They’re under oath.  
 
Senator Ridgell: Madam Chair, if I may, this is against our own Standard Operating Procedures 
and the rules we’ve put together for public hearings. Um, every participant is required to have their 
face visible. That’s our own rules, Madam Chair.  
 
Mr. Carlson: Senator Ridgell? Was that Senator Ridgell?  
 
Senator Ridgell: Yes, it’s me. 
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Mr. Carlson: Thank you, sir. I, I refer the body to the current bylaw Chapter 13 Administrative 
Section; Part 1, Section 2. It reads: “No appointing authority, manager, supervisor or public officer 
in any branch of government of Guam shall require or exert undue influence on any classified or 
unclassified employee of any branch of the government of Guam to maintain or utilize for 
employment-related duties, at such employee’s personal expense, any form of wireless or internet 
communications, phone, tablet, desktop or laptop computer.” I would—  
 
Senator Ridgell: Uh, I understand, Mr. Carlson—  
 
Mr. Carlson: I would suggest— 
 
Senator Ridgell: What I’m, what I’m—  
 
Mr. Carlson: I would suggest that the law— 
 
Senator Ridgell: To say is that, if the Chair was unable to get you on visually, then you should be 
excused from the hearing, is what I am saying.  
 
Mr. Carlson: If that’s what you guys want, that’s fine with me. I’m willing to participate. I’m 
citing statute. You guys have standing rules. I believe statute overrules your standing rules.  
 
Chairperson Perez: Um, can we get legal counsel to weigh in on this, at some point?  
 
Senator Lee: Madam Chair, you are the presiding officer of this hearing, and so whatever call you 
make is what we will, we will continue with. You began this hearing by going through your list of 
rules, and so it’s really up to you as the Presiding Officer and the Chairperson of this hearing to, 
um, to guide us.  
 
Chairperson Perez: Okay. Thank you, Senator Lee. I think, [inaudible] Lester Carlson, I would 
like to invite you on another oversight hearing. So if you could please, at this time, we’ll forward 
you questions. And so, I would have to ask the host to re-invite you at, at the next oversight hearing 
with the visual capabilities.  
 
Mr. Carlson: When I have the visual capabilities at my office, which I explained to your office, I 
would be more than glad to do so. Thank you very much.  
 
Chairperson Perez: Alright. Moving on, so, um, Senator Wil Castro, do you have any questions 
at this time?  
 
Senator Castro: Um, let me go ahead and unmute myself. Thank you, Madam Chair, for the 
privilege. I have the opportunity to hear, uh, Legal Counsel, uh, mention that it wasn’t his realm 
and Adelup to oversee procurement and I can respect that. Uh, however, having been a member of 
the cabinet, and also a member of the governor’s senior advisory team, based on my experiences, 
usually that’s how we would discharge the duties that are assigned to the Governor, it would be 
delegated to members of senior staff and then, vis-á-vis, down, all the way down to the cabinet. 
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So, my question then would be to Mr. Huynh, if you were not overseeing, or it wasn’t your realm 
to oversee procurement activity, could you suggest, um, to the best of your knowledge, who was 
within Adelup who had, at least, supervisory authority or some, uh, rule to guide the procurement 
process forward? That would be my question my first question. Thank you.  
 
Attorney Huynh: Sir, I can only tell you what I did and what I was ordered to do.  
 
Senator Castro: Okay. Madam Chair, I understand you limited it to, what was that, one question—
I’m sorry, could you repeat that, or could I carry on another one?  
 
Chairperson Perez: One question at this time, please.  
 
Senator Castro: Okay. That’s fine. I respect the rules, and I’ll go ahead and yield the time. Thank 
you. I do have a couple questions for the next round.  
 
Chairperson Perez: Okay, thank you. Senator Moylan, you have the floor.  
 
Senator Moylan: Thank you, Madam Chair. And I understand that questions for this oversight are 
about procurement for our, for the situation that we are currently in, and these are questions that I 
hope to get answered and from the start I understand on April 1st of 2020 we had four back-dated 
letters. It emerged with digital signatures from the Department of Public Health and Social 
Services Director, Linda DeNorcey. And on, on, her signature was on them. And these are the 
letters which designated these specific hotels, which many of us are talking about, as quarantine 
facilities, which we have a lot of questions about. And of course, we’ve had, uh been the subject 
of much discussion over the past few weeks all over the place, right? And, so here are the questions 
that I, I want to know, and I came here to get answered. First off, that, I, I want to know who 
reached out to Director DeNorcey? Because during the public hearing some 10 days ago I asked 
the Director and was told by the Director, she does not recall. And it was also stated that she hasn’t 
seen the letters. So, who designated to reach out to her for her authorization? And, does anyone 
recall even having a conversation with the Director, or even attaining her authorization, and was 
she actually involved in the procurement? And, and finally, who, who proceeded with adding these 
signatures to letters, or were they just added because of good faith? So, I understand, um, Haig’s, 
uh, statement and I appreciate that. If others want to answer, it will be great. And if Mr. Haig has 
to refer back to his statement, so be it. But I came here to ask these questions, and I think majority 
of us want to know the answers to these questions, and I would appreciate it if they could be 
answered. Thank you, Madam Chair. 
 
Chairperson Perez: [INAUDIBLE] 
 
Attorney Huynh: Uh, could I defer to Mr. Esteves, to let you know what these documents really 
were? They were not procurement documents. 
 
Senator Moylan: Certainly. If someone can kindly shed light on this, it would be great. Please. 
 
Mr. Esteves: So, so Håfa Adai. The documents from Public Health, so, they’re not procurement 
documents. They’re to get approval for the use of non-congregate shelter for potential 
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reimbursement under the FEMA Public Assistance Program. So, part of getting the, the approval 
for the request for reimbursement is a Public Health assessment, we’re currently on our second 
request, and so on our first extension, three-day extension, that we received a letter from Public 
Health, basically assessing the need for a non-congregate shelter to be used as a 
quarantine/isolation facility. So, those, those letters are not for procurement, but they were 
specifically for the purpose of getting approval from the FEMA Regional Administrator for non-
congregate shelter use. Because, normally during any other emergency, we have congregate 
shelters such as our schools, gyms, you know, our Tier 1 and Tier 2 facilities. So, just to let you 
know, they weren’t, the purpose of it wasn’t for procurement.  
 
Senator Moylan: Okay, thank you. And, I understand that part. So, was the signature there with 
her authority or not? Whether its procurement or non-procurement? Did she have knowledge of 
this, or did she not? Whether or not, if you defined it as procurement or not, the question is, who 
put on the signature? Who allowed this signature to come on of these documents that she does not 
recall? Please.  
 
Mr. Esteves: So, I, so I can’t answer for that, Senator. I do know that those documents were not 
transmitted. We did receive, you know, documents. Um, I guess there were, there’s some error 
with the date or whatever the case may be, but yeah, so I, I don’t know how the signature was 
affixed to it I just can tell you that we did receive subsequent documents that were transmitted. 
And so, we can provide a copy of those documents at a later date, if needed.  
 
Senator Moylan: Um— 
 
Chairperson Perez: So, yes. Thank you, Senator Moylan. I just would like to follow up with that 
question. So we did receive some information. So this is the question to Laurie Tumaneng. So, we 
did see, um, get some information regarding that, the direction in how the, the digital signatures 
were used. Can you explain what happened, at that point? Or, how were the digital signatures of 
Linda DeNorcey, in your in your account of things, what was the instruction that you received?  
 
Laurie Tumaneng, ASO, Office of the Governor: For those specific letters? 
 
Chairperson Perez: Yeah. Yes, and um, yeah, what were the instructions that were given to you? 
 
Ms. Tumaneng: Yes. So, I received direction from Legal Counsel to affix Linda’s digital signature 
upon the letters, um, it stated that they did received approval from Director DeNorcey. Upon 
receiving the direction, I affixed it and emailed it back to Legal Counsel Office.  
 
Chairperson Perez: At that time when you did that, so, what was the source of the digital 
signature? 
 
Ms. Tumaneng: Do you…um, sorry—  
 
Chairperson Perez: The—  
 
Ms. Tumaneng: You’re asking whose [inaudible] was required? 
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Chairperson Perez: Yeah, so, [inaudible]. Yes.  
 
Ms. Tumaneng: Okay, so I received, um, permission from Director DeNorcey to use a digital 
signature. This was at the beginning of the pandemic.  
 
Chairperson Perez: Okay, so you had in your in your possession the digital signature of Linda 
DeNorcey prior to the requests or the, the instruction?  
 
Ms. Tumaneng: Prior to the request of this specific, um, these specific documents, yes.  
 
Chairperson Perez: And who instructed you to do that? 
 
Ms. Tumaneng: To…I’m sorry…  
 
Chairperson Perez: Who instructed you to put the signatures on documents? 
 
Ms. Tumaneng: All direction came from Legal Office, as far as affixing Director DeNorcey’s 
signature on the document. 
 
Chairperson Perez: And how was her approval received? Or how did you, how did you know 
that she gave her approval? 
 
Ms. Tumaneng: I can only speak to the direction that I received. I, when I received the directions, 
they all stated that they received Director DeNorcey’s approval for the use of her digital signature. 
 
Chairperson Perez: And what, what is the normal protocol in regards to use of her digital 
signature? Were you informed of any protocols?  
 
Ms. Tumaneng: The [inaudible] I am familiar with are, if they, there are documents that are 
needing her signature and she’s unable to, for whatever reason, provide her wet signature we would 
ask her permission for it, whether it be an email or over the phone, and once they receive approval, 
they would send me direction to affix additional signature on the documents.  
 
Chairperson Perez: And with  
 
Attorney Huynh: [INAUDIBLE] 
 
Chairperson Perez: [INAUDIBLE] regarding notifying her and, perhaps and email saying, ‘oh, 
that we follow-through with your approval’? Was there any follow— 
 
Ms. Tumaneng: I’m sorry, I [INAUDIBLE] your question 
 
Chairperson Perez: Was there any follow-through in communicating with Director DeNorcey 
that their digital signature was used? 
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Ms. Tumaneng: I can recall at least one time when she was, is part of the email thread. I don’t 
remember which document it was, and I can’t say if that happened for each document where 
additional signature was affixed.  
 
Chairperson Perez: She was, uh, so, just to confirm, she was in, she knew that you had, or at least 
the Office of the Governor had her digital signature? 
 
Ms. Tumaneng: Oh yes, she was aware.  
 
Chairperson Perez: Thank you, very much. So, a question for Chuck, Charles Esteves, I’m sorry, 
just state your name, your position and Agency.  
 
Mr. Esteves: Håfa Adai, um, my name’s Charles Esteves, I’m with the—I’m the Administrator 
for the Office of Civil Defense.  
 
Chairperson Perez: And, to your understanding, do you have, does your agency have 
procurement authority? Or, if you do, what, to what extent?  
 
Mr. Esteves: Uh, no. So we are like a coordinating agency and we don’t have, uh, procurement 
authority. The way we understand it, like, procurement authority from our standpoint, when we 
coordinate for resources, is through, uh, through GSA. 
 
Chairperson Perez: Thank you. And so… 
 
Mr. Esteves: I just want to state though, that that’s when we coordinate for resources, specifically. 
Because, you know there are agencies with their own procurement authority, such as the 
autonomous and semi-autonomous agencies that, people conduct their own procurement during 
emergencies, so we are not, you know, a source for, for procurement, we’re just simply a resource 
coordination element.  
 
Chairperson Perez: Okay, so when Executive Order 2020-03 was, was declared or released, in it 
says that you were supposed to take the lead in procurement. What was your understanding of the 
role? 
 
Mr. Esteves: So, are you talking about, um, Section 7 of the EO?  
 
Chairperson Perez: Yes.  
 
Mr. Esteves: Yeah, so it said Guam Homeland Security/Office of Civil Defense is the lead agency 
for logistics. So, it says we shall lead agency for logistical organization, direction of resources, and 
procurement of any goods and services relative to executive order, but it doesn’t mean that we are 
the procuring authority. It just means that we can utilize, or we can, we can coordinate for resources 
through emergency procurements. At least that’s how, how I understand it to be. Just to let you 
know, I worked several storms before, we have four open disasters, so we have Typhoon Halong, 
Dolphin, Mangkhut and Wutip, so this will be the fifth, and fifth open disaster that we have. So, 
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there are simultaneous procurement actions going on, um, I can only tell you what was conducted, 
coordinated through our office. But can’t speak for any of the actions that happened prior to.  
 
Chairperson Perez: Thank you for clarifying that. So, basically, you’re confirming that you have 
no procurement authority at this time, and that you work through the ESA as your procuring 
authority.  
 
Mr. Esteves: Uh, correct. 
 
Chairperson Perez: Okay. So, can you explain who was in the lead, as far as procuring quarantine 
facilities? Was it, so your agency is one of the co-leads for disaster or during this pandemic?  
 
Mr. Esteves: Correct. 
 
Chairperson Perez: What [INAUDIBLE] in—  
 
Mr. Esteves: So there are two age—so, just to let you know, Guam Homeland Security and the 
Office of Civil Defense are two separate agencies. The Office of Civil Defense was created by 
Title 10, Chapter 65. And so the, the, my duties and responsibilities as the Administrator for the 
Office of Civil Defense, I serve as the Governor’s Agent in the Administration’s supervision of all 
response activity operations, um, also, as provided in the Guam Comprehensive Emergency 
Management Plan. So, during the actual declared emergency or disaster event, I serve as the 
Territorial Coordinating Officer. If we are given a presidential disaster declaration. You know, I 
also serve as Counsel to the Governor on emergency management issues. I ensure that, you know, 
the territory is prepared to deal with large-scale emergencies. You know, and also, we just provide 
just, just, guidance on potential reimbursements to the FEMA Public Assistance Program. Prior to 
this disaster I was not, not involved. So, the primary lead, prior, prior to this was, uh, Guam 
Homeland Security at the lead of the Homeland Security Advisor, Tim Aguon.  
 
Chairperson Perez: Okay. And so, during this pandemic, what was your role in the procuring of 
the quarantine facilities? 
 
Mr. Esteves: So, like I said, prior to this emergency, and the actual Emergency Declaration, and 
then, even when [inaudible] into it, most of the coordination was being done by Guam Homeland 
Security. And so, there was emergency procurement going on for PPE, cleaning supplies; and so, 
we have all tickets in our system record called DLAND—Disaster Land, and in it we keep records 
on resources, requests by different government of Guam agencies. So, I was not involved with the, 
you know, the procurement of quarantine facilities or the planning of quarantine facilities. If they 
needed specific resources in support of any sort of operations, such as security resources from 
ESF-13 (Emergency Support Function-13), Public Safety and Security; if they needed National 
Guard support, that’s where the Emergency Operation Center came in, through the utilization of 
response activity coordinators in one of sixteen emergency support functions. And from there, we 
coordinated for, for resources. But I was not asked to facilitate or come in to, basically, to assist 
with the coordination or the procurement of quarantine facilities or isolation facilities. And that 
was a Homeland Security function. And just to let you know, that, when the Governor declared a 
State of Emergency, that’s when I assumed that instant command, but indolent command, like I 
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said it’s, it’s primarily coordination of resources. And so, if a resource list was actually submitted 
to DLAND or requested through us, then we would work to first utilize Government of Guam 
assets and resources. So, for example, if we needed vehicles, we would ask ESF-1 Transportation, 
‘do you have vehicles available with DPW, GRTA and all the different, Government of Guam 
agencies in that emergency support function?’ After a, the agencies, if they come back and they 
say that ‘we do not have resources available, for whatever reason,’ then we start going towards 
emergency procurement. And the fund source that we utilize is the $250k that is given to us for 
the management of the emergency.  
 
Chairperson Perez: So, you’re basically saying that you are not involved in the procurement of 
the quarantine facilities, is that correct?  
 
Mr. Esteves: Correct. That was not a function of Civil Defense, that was a function of Guam 
Homeland Security. 
 
Chairperson Perez: Okay, so this is a question for Chief Procurement Officer Claudia Acfalle. 
So, if you can unmute yourself, please. Yeah. Håfa Adai, Claudia. So, um— 
 
Claudia Acfalle, Chief Procurement Officer, General Services Agency: Håfa Adai. 
  
Chairperson Perez: In regard to the question on quarantine facilities, so, what is the relationship 
between Office of Homeland Security and GSA? Are you in charge of procuring, the procurement 
process?  
 
Ms. Acfalle: Yes, I am. So, in any emergencies, whatever, as Charles Esteves mentioned earlier, 
whatever’s submitted through the DLAND, and they exhaust the reaching out to the government 
agencies that can possibly, maybe provide those services or equipments. If none is available, then 
he will, we will work together to acquire the goods or services that’s needed during the emergency 
situation.  
 
Chairperson Perez: So, in regard to the procurement of quarantine facilities what, what was your 
involvement with that and what’s the, what was the earliest that you involved the procurement of 
those facilities? 
 
Ms. Acfalle: On May 9th is when we, actually, GSA received a requisition from Homeland Security 
to procure for quarantine or the QFA facilities 
 
Chairperson Perez: Okay, so, the fact of the matter is that the quarantine facilities were used 
much earlier, uh, before May 9th. To your recollection, who was doing the procurement prior to 
that? 
 
Ms. Acfalle: I’m not aware of, Senator, Madam Chairman. I had no involvement before May 9th  
 
Chairperson Perez: Okay, so— 
 
Attorney Huynh: [INAUDIBLE] 
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Chairperson Perez: My question goes for Director Birn. Though there was some information 
regarding, that invoices had to be paid, were you at all—what was the, and there was some 
information that invoices were paid, so hearing that there was no—were you aware that—at what 
point were you aware that quarantine facilities were being procured?  
 
Mr. Birn: I wouldn’t know. 
 
Chairperson Perez: At what point were you aware, though?  
 
Mr. Birn: I’m, I’m not aware that…you asked me, were quarantine facilities still being procured. 
I was not aware.  
 
Chairperson Perez: Okay, so, but in the news, they had, the news broke on May 2nd where there 
were invoices, unpaid invoices. Were you of that time [INAUDIBLE]May 2nd? 
 
Mr. Birn: Well, if it was in the news, of course I was aware. And the invoices, as you just said, 
were unpaid.  
 
Chairperson Perez: Okay. But there is information I have here, that says that these invoices were 
paid, and what was the basis for the payment, if we do not have any record of procurement?  
 
Mr. Birn: Which invoices are you referring to, Senator?  
 
Chairperson Perez: I would have to find the email, but I believe $142,000 were paid for, related 
to the quarantine facilities; the leases, plus laundry services. What was the basis of their payment 
if there was no record of procurement for these quarantine facilities?  
 
Mr. Birn: Could you repeat which invoices were paid? 
 
Chairperson Perez: I don’t have a record but in one of the email threads, there is a mention of 
$142,000 that were paid.  
 
Mr. Birn: Which emails, Senator?  
 
Chairperson Perez: I’ll look, I’ll find it. Let me go back to a, Procurement Officer Claudia. So, 
on May 9th—May 9th was the first time you had any information regarding procurement of 
quarantine facilities. Did it raise any flags to you that, first of all, were you aware that quarantine 
facilities were being procured prior to that date? 
 
Ms. Acfalle: Um, I, I kept hearing, you know, about quarantine facilities being used again to the 
media and everything and I was, actually I received emails from Mr. Haig and, you know, Tony 
Babauta, the former Chief of Staff, regarding the, I guess, what transpired or you know, trying to 
explain that there’s, there’s a—they need some assistance in reviewing documents but then after 
meeting with Mr. Lester Carlson, um, he mentioned that there were payments made already, so 
I’m like, ‘it’s a done deal’. I-I-I mean, there’s nothing I can do.  
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Chairperson Perez: Okay. 
 
Carlo Branch, Director of Policy, Office of the Governor: Senator, or, Madam Chair, this is Carlo 
Branch from the Office of the Governor, and maybe I can provide the distinction which I think the 
chair is looking for. And what I would say is, it is difficult to fit a Title 5 peg into a Title 10 hole. 
And what I by that analogy is, traditional procurement was not used in this process. The Governor’s 
Emergency Power to purchase under a completely separate Title was used, and that is the legal 
justification, as a matter of policy, behind the actions which you are now attempting to exercise 
oversight.  
 
Chairperson Perez: Okay. So, is Linda DeNorcey here? Is she present?  
 
Linda Unpingco DeNorcey, Director, Department of Public Health and Social Services: Yes, I 
am. 
 
Chairperson Perez: Linda, were you aware of any of the procurement of these quarantine 
facilities? 
 
Ms. DeNorcey: The deception was done, but I was aware because we had to prepare for the flights 
that were coming in, specifically for the main flight from the Philippines, which was March 19th 
that I had to, I remember that vividly because I had to appear in court, because I had to involuntary 
quarantine several passengers. 
 
Chairperson Perez: So, what’s the earliest that you’ve heard about government of quarantine 
facilities?  
 
Ms. DeNorcey: It would have to be before March 19th because these passengers had to be at the 
facility prior to then. 
 
Chairperson Perez: And at that point, who was leading the procurement process?  
 
Ms. DeNorcey: Well, I certainly was, was not the one leading it, that’s for sure. I believe that the 
procurement process was supposed to be, supposed to, was supposedly be the, um, at the beginning 
it was, I think Homeland Security, and then later on, Homeland Security with Tim Aguon, and 
then later on it transitioned on to changes, and then I only know that certain people were taking 
the lead, and then I found out that Haig was, was in charge of doing all these negotiations with the 
different, um, hotels [INAUDIBLE] I know, as far as I’m concerned. 
 
Senator Moylan: Madam Chair, it’s difficult to hear the Director, if she can kindly increase her 
volume or move the microphone closer, please.  
 
Mr. Branch: I can give you a more, a more succinct— 
 
Ms. DeNorcey: Stop. They’re asking me the question. Okay. Can you, can you hear me now? 
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Chairperson Perez: Yes, very clear, Linda.  
 
Ms. DeNorcey: Okay. Yes. Um, it had to be before March 19. That I met—I remember very 
vividly because we were expecting the Philippines flight to come in, especially, because I 
remembered it very well, because we had to force several passengers from the Philippine flight to 
go on involuntary quarantine. And I had to appear in court to, to justify the involuntary quarantine. 
So, obviously they were placed at, at the hotels because I had to go back and look at the records 
and indicate that to the Attorney General’s Office to give them a listing of all the passengers that 
arrived, and all the passengers that had involuntary quarantined, in order to prepare for the court 
hearing. 
 
Chairperson Perez: Okay. 
 
Ms. DeNorcey: So, your question was, who was in charge of the procurement that you—people 
couldn’t hear. I certainly was not taking the fore lead on that, that’s for sure. It started originally 
with Tim Aguon, that Tim was involved as Homeland Security, and I believe he was assigned to 
get the quarantine sites. He was there, and also we had a couple meetings together with John 
Quinata and Tim, and myself, with, with, with Mary Rhodes just to discuss possible places and to 
see the fact that we were preparing, should we need an area, we need to figure out, you know where 
these places are going to be. But other than that, later on it shifted from Tim, and then I, I, I no 
longer attend. I think was just a couple meetings and that was it, just to help with the coordination 
of what we wanted in Public Health’s perspective, my role was to just show them that we need 
place or that there’s no cross-contamination of a patient that were to come. If we’re going to get a 
quarantine facility, it cannot be having a place that easily can transmit the virus. So they had to 
have a specific negative air pressure, I was providing all that information so that that was very well 
known on the Public Health side, and that’s my only role that was, pretty much just consulting on 
what was the, the need for the prevention of cross-contamination of any individuals being infected. 
And so then, I found out that it shifted from Tim Aguon at Homeland Security to, I believe it went, 
now to Haig. So Haig was doing the negotiations, and, and that’s, that’s what I know. 
 
Chairperson Perez: So, Haig would you confer with that? 
 
Senator Moylan: Madam Chair, excuse me, Madam Chair? Can we please confirm if Mr. Carlo 
Branch was also sworn in, please, since he’s offering input? Thank you, Madam Chair. 
 
Chairperson Perez: Okay. Umm… 
 
Attorney Huynh: He was sworn in. 
 
Chairperson Perez: Thank you, so, yeah can you confirm, Mr. Branch, if you were sworn in? 
 
Mr. Branch: Yes, I did. Twice. 
 
Chairperson Perez: Thank you very much. So, Haig, can you confirm, so, that, at some point you 
took the lead in the procurement of the hotels? 
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Attorney Huynh: Ma’am, I, if I could def—I don’t know how to better answer that question for 
you, so I’ll ask Mr. branch if he can articulate. 
 
Mr. Branch: Sure. Madam Chair, I think what we would express is, the Governor was the 
Procuring Officer during the course of this particular event, and she, as the Governor of Guam in 
the middle of Public Health Emergency exercised her Emergency Purchase Power, so she was the 
primary person. She did give direction to Legal Counsel, and Legal Counsel’s direction has been 
summarized in his written statement. 
 
Chairperson Perez: And again, you’re citing which law gives her that procurement authority? 
 
Mr. Branch: Uh, ma’am we have repeatedly referenced you to the Emergency Purchasing Power 
under Title 10, Chapter 9. 
 
Chairperson Perez: You mean Chapter 19? 
 
Mr. Branch: Sorry. Yes. Chapter 19, I apologize.  
 
Chairperson Perez: So, in that Act, it actually identifies the Public Health Authority, who is Linda 
DeNorcey. 
 
Mr. Branch: Sure, ma’am. And I think what the documented which you have read, or hopefully 
will read will indicate in the citation of case law and other statutes, is that, in fact, in accordance 
with the Organic Act of Guam and other laws, the Public Health Authority is ultimately the 
Governor of Guam.  
 
Attorney Huynh: And ma’am, if I could also give you another citation, it’s under 2CFR 200.317 
and 200.330 that talks about, that the recipient of the federal funds is the procuring authority.  
 
Chairperson Perez: Okay, so we’ll—yeah, that’s federal law, so that’s slightly different from the 
local law. But I just want to go— 
 
Attorney Huynh: It’s not, the federal law rules, uh, ma’am, in terms of federal funds.  
 
Chairperson Perez: Yes, we’ll go into that a little bit later. So, going back to the procurement of 
facilities. So, I have email here that says that basically, so, Ms. Acfalle you were cc’d on all the 
emails, or most of the emails regarding a lot of the procurement process. Can you explain, so, 
given the testimony by Linda DeNorcey, can you explain what was your role at that point on March 
20th? So, there was an email from Lester Carlson to Haig stating about procurement, relating to the 
laundry services. So that’s the, one of the earliest ones, or, March 19th I have some emails, um, 
regarding it, in which you cc’d. Can you explain, what was your role, at that point? 
 
Ms. Acfalle: Madam Chair, I, although the emails indicate that I was cc’d copies, I really didn’t 
understand, you know, what was going on because I had no participation. I just see these emails, 
you know, laundry services, food services, I believe. You know, but all those, as I understood was 
something that was already procured without any—I had no involvement in them.  
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Chairperson Perez: And what, what do you think the reason for that was? Why were you not? 
Because you’re the Chief Procurement Officer, you oversee the procurement for the Office of 
Homeland Security and the Office of Civil Defense, and the Office of the Governor. Why, why 
were you not taking lead in all of this? 
 
Ms. Acfalle: Um, I believe when an emergency is executed or an executive order is issued by the 
governor under the emergency procurement, as is customary, we actually work hand-in-hand with 
the Office of Homeland Security. And in this case, as mentioned in Chapter10 of the Health 
Emergency, as we as we were reading the executive order, it did not it did not delineate that the 
Governor suspended any; either the 5GCA, which is the procurement statute, or the 2GARR, the 
regulations, the procurement rules and regulations. And Chapter 10 did specifically say, that she 
was going to, again, you know, bypass all those or executor powers that, that it will be stated in, 
through an executive order. So, my understanding is that we were, again, communicating closely 
with the Homeland Security Office. Since, in any form of emergency, that we again work through 
the [inaudible] system so that, again, we’re always thinking of reimbursement. Okay, and we, we, 
again, based on our experience, were familiar with what kind of procedures FEMA is looking for 
in terms of making sure that we meet our local procurement statutes as it relates to the procurement 
process. So, um, so we were relying and working closely with the Homeland Security which is, of 
course the, the Certifying Officer, Ms. Marie Quenga and we have this, of course, working 
relationship that we always communicated in terms of the needs of the island, through, like, a 
pandemic like this, or, or any emergency situation. So, we always had that good understanding of 
actually executing these procurement, emergency procurements, as it relates to the emergency 
situation. So, our understanding is that since it wasn’t, um, stated on the EO, on the Executive 
Order, anywhere, that, again, the Governor has, you know, again, was empowered to suspend any 
of the existing or pre-existing statutes or regulations. Our understanding, at least me as a Chief 
Procurement Officer, my understanding is that we work closely with the Office of Homeland 
Security because, again, we’re under this emergency. 
 
Chairperson Perez: Okay, so you mentioned earlier that you work hand-in-hand with the Office 
of Civil Defense and Office of Homeland Security. 
 
Ms. Acfalle: Homeland Security. 
 
Chairperson Perez: What about the Office of the Governor? 
 
Ms. Acfalle: Normally during an emergency, again, because we want to make sure that the 
documentations and how its filtered through, because we look forward to getting these 
reimbursements. And, so we work closely with the Homeland Security Office or the folks.  
 
Chairperson Perez: Okay, so you did not have a close working relationship with the Office of the 
Governor. Is that what you’re saying? 
 
Ms. Acfalle: Um, not normally on, on, emergency situations with work or handing out with the 
Office of Homeland Security and Civil Defense and that’s the reason is, again, you know, with 
cabinets they take care of their meeting and then whatever the briefing is, whatever is needed 
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during these this emergency situations then it gets passed through Homeland Security and filter to 
GSA just making sure that the communication is open and, and that nobody, we don’t get all 
confused in the process.  
 
Chairperson Perez: Okay. So, unfortunately do not have somebody here from the Office of 
Homeland Security to any of these questions. So, there is a gap in the information regarding who 
was the lead in the quarantine facilities. Um, but— 
 
Ms. Rhodes: Madam Chair, this is Mary. I’m wondering if I can chime in. 
 
Chairperson Perez: I’m sorry, who is this?  
 
Ms. Rhodes: This is Mary from GHRA,  
 
Chairperson Perez: Oh— 
 
Ms. Rhodes: Mary Rhodes.  
 
Chairperson Perez: Yes, Mary. Please do.  
 
Ms. Rhodes: Yeah, I think it’s important to note, I know that there’s some inquiries—sorry, I was 
on the Economic Advisory Task Force working group earlier, so I couldn’t attend on time with 
this. But I just want to make, give you, since you asked earlier about a timeline, just to let you 
know, a lot of this did start off, technically as Department Public Health Social Services Director 
Linda DeNorsey, you mentioned, we participated earlier in January. And so I think under the FOIA 
request, I did get some inquiries from media in, about an email that I sent to the government with 
regards to quarantine questions, even starting January. It is part of our Pandemic Plan to look at 
possible shelter-in-place because GHRA serves on, similar to what Charles Esteves said, 
mentioned earlier, there are 13 different ESF groups for emergency planning for FEMA. And 
GHRA is part of the vocational nonprofit organizations that serve in ESF-6—ESF-6 for mass, 
mass shelter-in-place. And, and so it’s part of our Pandemic Plan, we needed to do this outreach 
in January. This is what, way before the mandatory quarantine took place. So, we will see in the 
FOIA request, there was information we were gathering. In an, in advance of our pandemic 
workshop, we conducted with Public Health together, where the Chief of Staff had [inaudible] in, 
together with Customs and the Airport Authority, Tom Ada. So we held the couple of workshops 
in January and early February. And so it was our task to look for quarantine already, and to see 
which hotels would operate, but not just for quarantine for mass-scale but also just quarantine 
floors. If, in case, we get tourists coming in and they have to quarantine at the hotel. So, you need 
to know that quarantine started at the beginning in January when we had to do work on the 
Pandemic Plan. It is part of our [inaudible] Pandemic Plan. So that’s one set of quarantine, okay, 
for non-Manila travelers before even the Executive Order went into effect. The second query that 
went out after January was later in February and March. And then the March one was more urgent, 
and that was a direct request from Homeland Security, similar to, again, what Mr. Esteves talked 
about. Homeland Security would normally put a request through DLAND, but we weren’t 
activated yet. That activation took place on Sunday, March 16th. We had already gotten requests 
early, last part of February, first part of March to start looking for facilities who had answered yes 
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to our queries because they had already anticipated if they are going to do any kind of mandatory 
quarantine, they have to have the hotels ready to go. Because they weren’t going to follow the 
Guam Plan. The Guam Plan requires that UOG and the Dededo Sports Complex serve as those 
facilities for quarantine and it was just going to be difficult to put people in those kinds of facilities, 
that would probably create a worse situation when you’re doing mass care for quarantine. So they 
really looked to the hotels to participate in that. So normally GHRA would participate in ESF-6 
format care in this situation. But we couldn’t put a ticket in DLAND because we weren’t activated 
yet at Homeland Security. So this was a direct request from Homeland Security to GHRA to follow 
up on where we were going, based on my conversations with Director Linda DeNorcey. We had 
been working closely, already for those three months. When the, I was actually there March 16th 
when the gov—when the Governor made the announcement for the mandatory quarantine that 
went into effect. I had met with the Chief of Staff and Homeland Security Advisor Tim Aguon 
right after she made that announcement, and then middle-of-the-night when we had to pull all 
stakeholders in. 
 
We had multiple meetings with hotels, the airlines, [inaudible] agents, and even the Airport 
Authority to talk about mandatory quarantine going into effect, Monday. And so, at that time, I 
needed to provide a bid list of hotels who said yes. Unfortunately, none of hotels and guest 
quarantine. Just so you know, you will see the under FOIA request, they all said no. So, I had to 
make personal calls, because it was a matter of urgency, to get to the hotels who would possibly 
say yes, who did not answer our survey, and that was to Days Inn, Wyndham, and Core Tech, 
initially. And Hotel Santa Fe. Those four hotels said yes outside of our initial surveys and they 
never responded to a three, our three surveys. So that was March 16th when we put those hotels 
into effect, and then we had a meeting. We had meetings with, I was only present in the initial 
meeting with Bayview and Days Inn—I’m sorry, Days Inn and Wyndham. And the meeting was 
actually at the Homeland Security Advisor’s office, Tim Aguon, together with Legal Counsel to 
talk about the, if, if they were in agreement what the terms would be. Because initially, I suggested 
federal rates based on FEMA, because that, um, not based on FEMA. Federal rates because they’re 
already approved by Congress and that’s what FEMA would see normally, under lodging, is 
federal rates. And so, those rates were renegotiated in those meetings with Homeland Security. 
But that does not mean that the procurement process doesn’t continue, but just so you know, in 
this time, there wasn’t, it wasn’t a normal situation where like DLAND ticket would be created. 
Because we hadn’t been activated, yet. At that point. The conversations were taking place. Only 
after March 16th  were we activated, and that’s really where Homeland Security should’ve looped 
back in, again, I think, with FEMA, especially since we’re in the same building, that we tie the 
loose ends, right? To make sure all contracting takes place. But I was only involved, initially, in 
Days Inn and Wyndham, and Hotel Santa Fe. Pacific Star only came in a couple days later when 
the direction on Manila, non-Manila travelers, travelers, were taking place. And we heard that 
president Duterte was going to close down the airport. We knew that Days Inn and Windham 
weren’t going to be sufficient enough. And Hotel Santa Fe, because imagine every flight that 
comes in from Manila, full with residents and other types of travelers, but mostly residents, coming 
back from Manila, because the airport was closing. We had a matter of two to three days to get 
another hotel, a large hotel. And so, Pacific Star called us, and they said that they now want to go 
in, and so those conversations took place after that, directly with HSA Advisor and with Legal 
Counsel Haig. From that point, I was not participating because my role with GHRA, what we 
normally do is we also sit in our own, we have a RAC that GHRA sits with GVB. And our role at 
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that point went from getting, coordinating, and facilitating the hotel requests to actually working 
with Public Health and GPD with the middle-of-the-night screenings. And so, I was working with 
Director DeNorsey on middle-of-the-night flights, with the Airport Authority and Customs on 
clearing all passengers to go to those hotels. And so, we also had to activate, I have to be clear, we 
had to activate additional hotels for non-Manila travelers, and that was Leopalace, Fiesta, 
Outrigger, and Hilton. Those ho—four hotels, as well as Days Inn, Wyndham, Hotel Santa Fe, and 
I believe Pacific Star, but I wasn’t involved in Pacific Star; they all had walkthroughs with Public 
Health, CDC, Fire Department, Guam Police Department, and Homeland Security. So all those 
agencies were involved as a site assessment, prior to them even getting turned on as a quarantine 
facility. So I have to say that, somewhere in between there, all the agencies were involved with 
probably the lack of GSA, but the question is, is, probably who needed to be involved at that point 
to make sure procurement protocols and documentation took place, at that point. But I have to say, 
in the beginning, because the way it happened, and that’s the timeline, I think, that you’re looking 
for. After March 30th when we stood down because the flights already decreased and the only flight 
coming in was Honolulu, that’s when I went over to the USS Roosevelt project where we had to 
activate hotels within 36 hours. So, I already moved on there. But that whole period between March 
19th and March 30th, I was only [inaudible] with, um, the incoming flights and placing them in the 
hotels and doing walkthroughs with Public Health, CDC, Fire and the Police Department and 
Homeland Security. Any questions on that timeline and activities by GHRA in facilitating?  
 
Chairperson Perez: No, that was very thorough. Thank you so much, Mrs. Rhodes. Okay, so 
there’s a gap here 3/16 to 3/30. Um, so Office of Homeland Security was perhaps in the know, in 
regards to these quarantine facilities. So the procurement system, you know, goes through GSA, 
and so I guess my question is, why was GSA not involved, or what was your involvement, at this 
point? Because you’re the o—GSA is the overseeing, is agency that oversees procurement, and…  
 
Ms. Rhodes: Madam Chairman, uh, Chairwoman, sorry. Even though I’ve been at Homeland 
Security, probably 15 years now, fourteen, fifteen years, and a lot of times when we do things 
through DLAND, those requests go through the agencies and helping with different organizations. 
And so, a lot of times those things are procured under emergency. And GSA, um I, correct me if 
I’m wrong, um, Chuck, do you know if GSA has a seat in RAC? 
 
Mr. Esteves: They do. So, they have two seats, one of under ESF-5, Emergency Management, 
also under ESF-7 for Resource Support. Then also there is the DPW’s procurement for ESF to 
Public Works engineering. So they do have a couple of seats. 
 
Ms. Rhodes: And DPW was is there, because that’s how we were procuring the transportation for 
the buses from the airport. So, I guess that would beg a question of how did transportation get 
covered, and also public health during all that time? It would fall under all of those same activities, 
because every time we received tourists, Manila travelers and non-Manilla travelers, we had to 
deal with health screenings at the airport. Um, working with Airport and Customs, and then DPW 
transferred them to the hotel, and then also the Guard, or not the Guard at the time, but Guam 
Police Department had to be coordinated at that time to provide perimeter. But also, um, assistance 
inside the hotel. And Days Inn and Wyndham and Santa Fe all had Public Health employees but 
also DoD, uh, DOE-transferred, um, volunteer nurses and other government staff all working in 
the hotels. So, I would think that all of those decisions, this should not be an, a ‘hotel only’ kind 
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of procurement, question, is, how did they procure the whole thing? Because the whole thing 
should—if you’re questioning one aspect of it, all of the other working parts of it should be 
questioned, as well. Or, how did those services all get funded or approved to be at the hotel without 
the hotel being authorized?  
 
Chairperson Perez: Yes. 
 
Ms. Rhodes: Because the hotels aren’t only the, the only providers, here. There were a lot of 
agencies that stood up, and I was the only non-government, private sector portion. Although I 
understand the procurement laws and the procurement rules, but under emergency, I would think 
that this all fell under emergency, so I would question the same thing for all of the support services 
including laundry? How did that all get approved? And the meals? 
 
Chairperson Perez: Yes, so, unfortunately, we don’t have Office Homeland Security so we would 
have, perhaps another oversight including them, to answer these questions. Because, as Claudia 
was saying, it’s, a lot of the emergency procurement goes through the agencies but all the line 
agencies go through, eventually go through GSA. So what was the breakdown, at that point? So, 
who was the lead in procuring these these services, as you were saying, and what was the 
breakdown between those agencies and GSA? That’s something that this oversight would like to 
clarify for future, future procurements because we can’t continue to have this sort of breakdown. 
And, you know, the results that we see in the news is the delayed, belated payment of invoices, 
which is somehow related to the lack of contract. So, if I, would like to change the direction of 
questioning is, what is the status of those leased facilities from March 16th to March 30th, is there, 
was there a contract that exists? To your knowledge of, we don’t have Office of Homeland 
Security, here, so I would have to I defer to Chief Procurement Officer Claudia Acfalle. Is there, 
are there contracts that exist for that time period, at least, of those facilities? 
 
Ms. Acfalle: Not to my knowledge. 
 
Chairperson Perez: So, we do not have contracts, to your knowledge?  
 
Ms. Acfalle: Right, not to my knowledge.  
 
Chairperson Perez: And who would you be seeking that information— 
 
Mr. Branch: I’m trying to figure out— 
 
Chairperson Perez: Sorry, this—so Claudia, isn’t this a cause for concern, or a flag that was 
raised, flags, as Chief Procurement Officer? What steps are you going to do to find out that 
information, or what is your role in getting that information?  
 
Ms. Acfalle: Again, Madam Chair, the, you know, again, for my understanding or at least my 
understanding is, that again, they’re already at the point of invoices. So I really don’t want to get 
into any mess that I wasn’t aware of and, and, and of course I did raised concerns with like Mr. 
Chuck Ada—uh, Chuck Esteves. You know, in regard to I’m communicating with the Homeland 
and Office of Civil Defense like, traditionally I do during an emergency.  
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Chairperson Perez: Okay, thank you. So, we have the AG’s Office. So, Jessica, Attorney Jessica 
Toft, do you have any information regarding the procurement of these quarantine facilities? At 
what point were you involved in this matter? I’m sorry if you’re can unmute yourself, please? Oh, 
you’re unmuted. I’m sorry, Jessica, can you—we can’t hear you, so if you can speak into the 
microphone.  
 
Jessica L. Toft, Assistant Attorney, Office of the Attorney General of Guam, Solicitor Division: 
Hi. So, I’m prohibited by, uh, 5GCA 5150 and Guam’s Rules of Professional Conduct, from 
talking about that, and my involvement, and like, my, uh, legal advice to, to anyone, and to my 
clients. So, I apologize for that. If you want to ask me general questions about procurement you 
can ask me general questions about procurement. Um, I think, in that, uh. In, in general, I think 
there’s a little misconception about Guam controlling. So, Guam law states that when—I’ll just 
read you the statute, even if we’re gonna say that this is a procurement: where a procurement 
involves the expenditure of federal assistance or contract funds, or other federal funds, [inaudible] 
little part, all persons within the Government of Guam shall comply with such federal law and 
regulations which are applicable, and which may be in conflict with, or may not be reflected in 
Guam’s procurement law. So, uh hah. In this case, this procurement, this, this purchase is being 
funded with federal FEMA funds. So federal law controls.  
 
Chairperson Perez: Um, Mr. Esteves, is that correct? Was FEMA funds utilized for the quarantine 
facilities?  
 
Mr. Esteves: So, so at this time, uh, so FEMA funds were…So, yes, to correct that, that federal 
laws will be applicable for the use of FEMA funds, by this time, uh, no we were, we were not 
using FEMA funds for emergency procurements, and I’m only talking about the resources coming 
into our facility. I mean, coming through the EOC. And so, we’re using the $250,000 that are 
authorized during emergencies. And also, the $100,000 that we use, that’s authorized during public 
health emergencies. So, if you want, I can go ahead and talk about the FEMA reimbursement the 
process? Because I think it was mentioned earlier that FEMA denied the use of, or the funding of 
non-congregate shelters, or something to that effect.  
 
Chairperson Perez: Um, sure. So, they denied the use of FEMA funds for that? For what reason?  
 
Mr. Esteves: No, no, I think you stated earlier that FEMA denied the use of funds. I think I that 
was earlier in the oversight? 
 
Chairperson Perez: Yeah, that was stated earlier, I believe. I have to go back and look at the 
record. But, so, for these non-congregate shelters was FEMA funds used?  
 
Mr. Esteves: No, so the way the public assistance process works, it’s, it’s a cost reimbursement. 
So, the guidance we use for public assistance is the, is the FEMA Public Assistance Policy Guide 
Version 3.1. And so everything is on a reimbursable basis. But, but, at this time, because we’re 
still going to active response and we haven’t gone through the recovery phase, yet, so we’re still 
working to collect data for, well, to be processed through, through FEMA Recovery Office. And 
then from there, they would create what’s called a project worksheet, and the project worksheet, 
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there’s a scope of work. Also, the, the 75/25 cost share, and the timeline, basically, to complete 
the project. And so, it’s, it’s a process and we haven’t received any approvals for any project 
worksheets, uh, we are still collecting data, at this time.  
 
Attorney Toft: And Senator Flores, I apologize. I said FEMA funds, because I believe FEMA 
funds will be eventually reimbursed. But it’s CARES Act funds, which are the, the first thing that 
our office has to do when we advise on any procurement, is we have to determine whether it’s 
going to be federal funds or local funds. And if it’s federal funds, then federal law controls. 
 
Chairperson Perez: Okay. Um, in CFR, though, it states that both local and federal laws have to 
apply. According to my documents, here. There is the statement where local laws have to apply. 
Let me find that, really quickly, but I, or I can send that information to you. Are you aware that? 
That local laws and federal laws have to apply? If not, I— 
 
Attorney Toft: Is this a question, is this a question to me  
 
Chairperson Perez: Yes, to attorney Jessica Toft at the top there is under CFR there are 
requirements for local procurement law to be followed, in addition to federal law. Are you aware 
of that? 
 
Attorney Toft: If it’s a procurement, if it’s a procurement, then federal law controls and federal 
law will refer you back to Guam law. However, if there’s a conflict, federal law trumps local law. 
 
Chairperson Perez: Have we ever been faced with that situation, Mr. Esteves? And what was the 
resolution? 
 
Mr. Esteves: Uh, faced the situation of federal law trumping local law?  
 
Chairperson Perez: First of all, do you concur with that assessment? 
 
Mr. Esteves: Uh, like, I…well, the assessment that federal law will trump local law? What’s the, 
what’s the assessment, sorry? 
 
Chairperson Perez: So, for as far as reimbursements go, because according to the document that 
I have here, that, it states that local laws and federal law needs to be followed. But in the case 
where they don’t, if there is a discrepancy, um, how do you, um, how is that resolved, normally?  
 
Mr. Esteves: So, so it’s clearly laid out in the Public Assistance Policy Guidance, so just to let 
you know, as an example, for like, [inaudible] reimbursements for overtime, so, you know, in that 
specific guidance they would refer back to what’s a pre-written policy, local policy. So there are 
some instances where they would have reference to local policies, just to let you know, the FEMA 
Public Assistance program, it’s a grant, right. So, with any grants, we have to make sure we follow 
federal guidelines. And yes, so if those guidelines do conflict with, with the local guidelines I, I’ve 
never ran to that situation so, so I’m not quite sure how that would be handled. 
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Chairperson Perez: Okay. So, Attorney Toft, have you ever faced that situation where there was 
a conflict and how was it resolved between federal and local procurement? 
 
Attorney Toft: Hello. Yes, we have faced that. In fact, we faced it with almost, almost every 
procurement we have with federal funds. If you look in Guam law, there is a local procurement 
preference. Federal law prohibits any local procurement preferences. So that is a, that is a situation 
in which they conflict, and in which the federal law controls, in the terms and conditions of the 
federal funds which state that we cannot apply a local procurement preference. Trump. Yes, it has 
happened. In fact, in almost all procurements. And, and there are other situations, as well. But, 
yes.  
 
Chairperson Perez: Okay. So, going back to your role as, in the Office of the Attorney General, 
so when are you, when is the office involved in procurement? What is your role, in general? 
 
Attorney Toft: Pursuant to 5GCA 5150 for every procurement over $500,000 we shall act as 
advisor.  
 
Chairperson Perez: So, considering that some of these quarantine facilities was over five hundred 
thousand, you can you count when you were involved? In the— 
 
Attorney Toft: Like I said, like I said earlier, I, I’m prohibited from talking about my specific, I 
sh—uh, under, under my ethical duties, I shall not reveal any information pertaining to my 
representation or advising. I shall not. I am prohibited. 
 
Chairperson Perez: Okay, and in regard to…how do you interpret, um…So, you’re talking, when 
you’re, you’re, when you are doing the task of reviewing contracts, how do you determine 
correctness of form? How is correctness of form determined?  
 
Attorney Toft: We review the law. The applicable law.  
 
Chairperson Perez: So, how formal does a contract have to be, to be correct?  
 
Attorney Toft: The standards are governed by the applicable law. 
 
Chairperson Perez: Which is what? If— 
 
Attorney Toft: Well in this case, federal law. 
 
Chairperson Perez: Okay, just, in general, how do you determine any kind of procurement if it, 
you know, let’s just take away the federal entity. In general, how do you know, how do you 
determine correctness of contract? 
 
Attorney Toft: There’s no correctness of a contract, it’s either legal or not legal. 
 
Chairperson Perez: Or correctness of form. So, how formal does a contract have to be, to be 
determined as being correct to form?  
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Attorney Toft: There’s, again, there’s no such thing as correctness. It’s either legal or not legal. 
 
Chairperson Perez: Okay, well, according to §5150 part of the responsibility, as part of the AG’s 
Office— 
 
Attorney Toft: Legality and form, yes. 
 
Chairperson Perez: Yeah, so that— 
 
Attorney Toft: And our office, our office is allowed to dictate certain forms. 
 
Chairperson Perez: Okay. So—  
 
Attorney Toft: And it does. 
 
Chairperson Perez: Can you…For the committee, can you provide what those correct, those 
forms that you are, are, approve of? What, how would the—[inaudible]  
 
Attorney Toft: Well, all of the forms, all of the forms that go along with the OA—that the OAG 
has published are located on our website under our procurement tab. Those are all the forms for a 
procurement. 
 
Chairperson Perez: Oh, can you basically give a listing of what those forms are?  
 
Attorney Toft: I’m not looking at the website right now. But I can tell you, there are several forms. 
 
Chairperson Perez: So, basically, if it deviates from those forms it’s not considered correct? Or 
what, what qualifications would make a form correct? Determination—[inaudible] 
 
Stephanie E. Mendiola, Attorney, Office of the Attorney General, General Counsel Division: 
Madam, Chair— 
 
Attorney Toft: Local— 
 
Attorney Mendiola: I’m, I’m sorry to interject, but if I, if I may, this is Stephanie Mendiola, 
General Counsel for AG’s Office. I wasn’t anticipating to speak tonight, but to help the discussion 
along  
 
Chairperson Perez: Did Stephanie [INAUDIBLE] 
 
Attorney Mendiola: Um, if you’d like to swear me in and I could just make a couple quick 
comments on the issue of form. 
 
Chairperson Perez: Sergeant-at-Arms, are you there, still? 
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Senator Terlaje: Which one of these attorney generals is representing the Attorney General, 
please? 
 
Chairperson Perez: Sorry, sergeant of arms, is he here? Okay, so we have to wait on sergeant of 
arms at this moment. 
 
Attorney Mendiola: Okay, no problem. I, and I, and, uh, Attorney Toft is representing our office 
and then for any substantive questions that you have, and obviously there are certain things that 
we are able to, um, discuss, as it relates to communications covered by the attorney-client privilege. 
But, if you are asking questions of a general nature, which, there are a few of us here who could 
help answer, but until that time is appropriate, that’s fine.  
 
Chairperson Perez: We can wait to have you sworn in at a certain time. But yeah, I might, yeah 
put that on hold for now, until sergeant of arms is back ready to swear you in.  
 
Attorney Mendiola: No problem.  
 
Chairperson Perez: So let’s move on to the, another question regarding emergency procurement 
for, this is for Attorney Toft: how quickly is emergency procurement done? How quickly can 
contact be drawn for an emergency procurement? What’s the average that you’ve seen for 
emergency procurement? 
 
Attorney Toft: Every emergency procurement is different.  
 
Chairperson Perez: So, what would [inaudible] 
 
Attorney Toft: Certain procurements, you’re purchasing items. Certain, certain procurements, 
emergency procurements, you’re leasing. They’re different. Every single one is different. 
 
Chairperson Perez: So, in your expectation what is for the amount [INAUDIBLE] or the speed 
of getting these contracts under emergency procurement?  
 
Attorney Toft: I do not have an expectation of, of speed for emergency procurements. 
 
Chairperson Perez: So, considering emergency [INAUDIBLE] procurement, the timeline is 30 
days, is it safe to say that it’s much less than 30 days?  
 
Attorney Toft: In some cases, it’s more. It’s, each, each emergency procurement is going to 
proceed differently, depending on what’s being procured and depending on how hard it is to, to 
obtain.  
 
Chairperson Perez: So, in your understanding, if there is no contract are payments allowed, if 
there is no contract? And what has happened in those emergency—  
 
Attorney Toft: Are you, are you asking me in this case? Or are you asking me in general, because 
in general, if you’re, it, it differs if you’re, if you’re dealing with federal law or, or Guam law. 
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Chairperson Perez: Okay. So, but—  
 
Attorney Toft: Such as, such as, federal law specifically authorizes advanced payments. 
 
Chairperson Perez: Okay. Federal law does that? 
 
Attorney Toft: Federal law, specifically under 2CFR 200 authorizes advanced payments, yes.  
 
Chairperson Perez: Okay. And where the requirements for that to occur?  
 
Attorney Toft: It’s actually the preferred method. 
 
Chairperson Perez: So, what are we, um… 
 
Attorney Toft: Under federal law, it is the preferred method. It’s the preferred method to make 
payments in advance. Like, for advanced, as, as we’re talking about advanced payments as defined 
under federal law.  
 
Chairperson Perez: What type of procurement are we talking about? 
 
Attorney Toft: We’re talking about, in general, under federal law.  
 
Chairperson Perez: But what kind of procurement? 
 
Attorney Toft: It, it’s not limited to a gen—a type of procurement. 
 
Chairperson Perez: So, any procurement, they prefer advance payments? Under 2 CFR?  
 
Attorney Toft: Under 2 CFR 200, it authorizes advance payments and that is typically the 
preferred method. It’s actually stated in 2CFR 200. 
 
Chairperson Perez: What are the limitations of that? 
 
Attorney Toft: There…uh… are you asking me to advise you on what the limitations are? All of 
the limitations on, on such payments are listed in the law.  
 
Chairperson Perez: So, what are the federal—I’m asking you because you seem to be more 
knowledgeable about this, according—  
 
Attorney Toft: About 2CFR 200, yes. 
 
Chairperson Perez: Yeah, so what are the limitations according to federal law for advanced 
payments? 
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Attorney Toft:  I don’t remember, off the top of my head, what the limitations are, but it’s actually 
the preferred method. 
 
Chairperson Perez: So, you’re saying for any kind of in, any kind of solicit—or, for any kind of 
contract— 
 
Attorney Toft: That applies to all federal awards. All federal assistance funds, all federal awards, 
all federal funds.  
 
Chairperson Perez: Okay. Now, is there, um— 
 
Attorney Toft: The norm defined in the CFR and, and, and, as well as the ways of making 
payment. All of those are defined in, in 2 CFR 200. 
 
Chairperson Perez: So, are there restrictions regarding reporting requirements, and should 
reporting requirements not be done? Or the terms are not met, is there a chance for that money to 
be returned? Are there consequences to that? 
 
Attorney Toft: Under 2CFR 200 the, the reporting requirements are as they are contained in the 
terms and conditions of your funds. 
 
Chairperson Perez: So, in the case that, for instance, the terms and conditions are not met, and 
the agency risks a back payment, is there the risk of returning those funds back to the federal 
government? 
 
Attorney Toft: There may be, it just depends on the terms and conditions of your federal funding. 
 
Attorney Huynh: [INAUDIBLE] doesn’t have those terms and conditions. 
 
Chairperson Perez: Okay, is somebody, was somebody trying to add to that? 
 
Mr. Branch: I think, given the fact that your concern is payment in the absence of contracts, I 
think you might be interested to know that in speaking with senior vice officers of the Navy, 
relative to the federal government’s procurement of hotels for the Theodore Roosevelt, they did 
so without a contract with advance payments. So, this is neither outside of the norm, or beyond 
procurement law as it [INAUDIBLE] 
 
Ms. Rhodes: Carlo— 
 
Mr. Branch: Understood. 
 
Ms. Rhodes: Carlo, that’s not true. That’s not a true statement. I’m actually the Contract 
Administrator for that, and in every instance, whenever we received authorization for funds to turn 
on every hotel before people were transferred outside of the base, we received two things: a verbal 
authorization, with a limited mass funding with obligated, right, funds; and an award of that. So, 
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we had that, specifically, in email, with the authorization followed up by the Contract Officer of 
what was authorized. Payment was never issued  
 
Mr. Branch: [INAUDIBLE] 
 
Ms. Rhodes: Until we entered into a letter contract. So, we actually had three contracts with the 
government, and each contract authorized certain funds as they continued to shift the timeline to 
the right. Every time they moved the quarantine period, from fourteen days, to seventeen, and then 
twenty-one days. So, we ended up having letter contracts— 
 
Mr. Branch: But at the hotels [INAUDIBLE]  
 
Ms. Rhodes: In lieu of an actual—  
 
Mr. Branch: Possibility prior to iso— 
 
Ms. Rhodes: [INAUDIBLE] contract.  
 
Mr. Branch: prior to contracts being engaged. That was my statement. 
 
Ms. Rhodes: No, but we had  
 
Chairperson Perez: Can— 
 
Ms. Rhodes: A contract in place. 
 
Mr. Branch: So [INAUDIBLE] prior to contracts being engaged. So— 
 
Ms. Rhodes: A letter contract is the same as a contract. It’s a binding agreement. So, we had 
binding agreements placed before any payments. So, that’s an incorrect statement. We had verbal 
authorizations to move into the hotels in each instance, with written writing. Verbal authorizations, 
with the approved amounts. But we never got paid until we had a letter contract, which actually 
were binding agreements and had mentioned all of the FAR clauses in them. 
 
Chairperson Perez: Thank you— 
 
Mr. Branch: Yes, and very similar things is what I’m trying to point out.  
 
Chairperson Perez: So, thank you Mary—Ms. Rhodes. Can you explain what form, this letter 
contract, is there a specific form to this? Or specific things that have to be listed in this letter for it 
to be binding? 
 
Ms. Rhodes: Oh, it makes reference to all of the federal regulations, the FAR clauses, and it has 
all of the rules and, and regs of be—being a vendor within the federal government. It has all of the 
procurement rules and everything that you have to attest to, by signing that. The letter contract was 
only in place, a definitized contract because we were still dealing with numbers that had to be 



 

194 Hernan Cortes Avenue, Terlaje Professional Building, 1st Floor, Hagåtña, Guam 96910 
671.989.2968•office@senatorperez.org• 

verified, with amounts that had to be renegotiated, because of the, remember, we were supposed 
to only receive ‘tested negative sailors’ and we weren’t supposed to have any positive sailors in 
the hotels. And so, those contracts had to go through a couple of revisions because of those sailors 
who were tested positive, and so, we ended up having to deal with decontamination, biohazard, 
things like that. So, there are reasons why the contracts had to change, and so those amounts kept 
increasing. But every time there was an increased of amount or an additional service, we always 
had verbal authorization, and then written authorization in email, with the amounts moving up 
each time, authorized by the government. And then we had two letter contracts, when we’ve, only 
so far, we’ve received two payments, to match our two contracts. We are, we just finalized the 
definitized agreement, which secures everything it has, again, all of the FAR clauses, not just for 
the primary vendor, but for all the subcontractors, as well.  
 
Chairperson Perez: Thank you, so much. So, just, Attorney Toft. Sorry, we have, I want to direct 
a question to the AG’s office, but I see that Sergeant-at-Arms is present so if you can, I’d appreciate 
if you can swear in Attorney Stephanie Mendiola.  
 
Mr. Unsiog: Okay, Attorney Mendiola, if I can have you raise your right hand?  
 
Attorney Mendiola: Buenas, Tom. Yes.  
 
Mr. Unsiog: Okay. Under penalties of perjury, do you all affirm—do you affirm that any and all 
information that you provide today, whether it be verbally, electronically, and in writing, be the 
truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth, so help you God?  
 
Attorney Mendiola: I affirm. 
 
Mr. Unsiog:  Okay. Madam Chair, she’s under oath. 
 
Chairperson Perez: Okay, thank you. So, this, actually, is a good segue into the question that I 
had posed earlier and an also comes after Mary Rhodes had spoke. So, are you familiar, so this 
goes to Attorney Toft or Attorney Mendiola? Are you familiar with the letter contracts, as was 
described by Mary Rhodes? To either, Jessica Toft or Stephanie Mendiola. 
 
Attorney Toft: Are you asking me if I’m familiar with those specific contracts?  
 
Chairperson Perez: Letter contracts.  
 
Attorney Toft: Or just letter contracts, in general? Have I ever heard of them? Or, I’m not really 
sure what the question is. Are you asking about the specific ones she’s talking about, or just in 
general?  
 
Chairperson Perez: Yes, in general we could talk in general terms. Are you familiar with letter 
contracts? 
 
Attorney Toft: Uh, I, I’ve seen them. 
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Chairperson Perez: Okay. And so, when, as Attorney General, who is overseeing contracts for 
correctness of form and legality? What is the proper form that it takes, for letter contracts? 
 
Attorney Toft: You, you don’t have to use a letter contract. There’s no specific form that’s 
required. 
 
Chairperson Perez: So, what you’re saying is, you can approve a contract because there’s no 
specific form? There’s no standard that the Office of the Attorney General has has for determining 
the correctness of a letter contract?  
 
Attorney Toft: Yes. The standard is the law. Does it meet the requirements of the law?  
 
Chairperson Perez: Okay, so let me put this question to Attorney Mendiola. How does the 
Attorney General’s Office determine the correctness of form of a contract?  
 
Attorney Toft: I, I, I’m just gonna answer. I’m gonna answer for that, I think, because I do those 
reviews. 
 
Chairperson Perez: Sorry, that question is for Attorney Mendiola. I would like to [inaudible] 
because I know you wanted to chime in earlier. If you can provide, your interpretation, your 
understanding of what is the correctness of form, when it comes to a letter contract? 
 
Attorney Mendiola: Uh, um, thank you, Madam Chair, but on that specific question I will defer 
to Attorney Toft. What I was addressing earlier, was the conversation with hicupping in between 
an actual form, and the question of reviewing, as to form. So I was just going to make the 
delineation, so that we could move the conversation along. But for the actual questions for 
substance I will defer to Attorney Toft.  
 
Chairperson Perez: But I’d like to continue my line questioning with you, Attorney Mendiola. 
So, how, are there standards within the Office of Attorney General, for them to determine correct 
of form of a contract?  
 
Attorney Mendiola: There are standards, but, and I apologize, I don’t mean any disrespect, but I 
have to defer to Attorney Toft to speak on behalf of our office, um, as it relates to specific practices 
that you’re asking about. 
 
Chairperson Perez: There are standards that exist? 
 
Attorney Mendiola: Correct. As she has mentioned.  
 
Chairperson Perez: Okay. And for the different types of contracts, are the different standards or 
tenets that one can look at and say, this is, this qualifies as being correct of form, as a contract?  
 
Attorney Mendiola: No. And she’s mentioned, you cannot say that a certain, there is no 
correctness of a contract, there’s just certain legal requirements, and I’m speaking about contract 
law, in general. If you’re talking about specific contracts and asking what the requirements are, 
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then that requires a legal analysis. And to the extent that any of your questions are relating to what 
our office did, um, as a part of this process, again, I have to refer to Attorney Toft.  
 
Chairperson Perez: Okay. So, Attorney Toft. So, we just heard from Mary Rhodes describing the 
process of having a letter contract prior to getting any sort of payments, and in your testimony, 
you have said that it is the preferred method of the federal government to give advance payments. 
Um, is this ahead of having contracts created? And, and approved contracts? Are you, are you 
stating that? Is that? I just want to clear, clear that. Is that correct, what I’m hearing you say? 
 
Attorney Toft: No, I’m just stating that under federal law, advanced payments are preferred under 
2CFR 200.  
 
Chairperson Perez: But before then— 
 
Attorney Toft: And, and advance payments are defined in the law, and, and there are, there’s, 
there’s statutes in—sorry, rules in 2CFR 200 that, kind of, give you guidelines as to when they 
should or shouldn’t be used. But it’s guidelines, as well. It’s not… 
 
Chairperson Perez: Um, so—  
 
Attorney Toft: And, and 
 
Chairperson Perez: So, my question to you is, does a contract have to exist before you receive 
payments? 
 
Attorney Toft: Uh…I’m sorry, like, I, yeah, I’m not exactly sure, what you’re asking. I, all I can 
tell you is what the law says, and that’s what 2CFR says. I couldn’t give you advice…  
 
Chairperson Perez: It’s very simple. Do contracts have to exist before payments are received 
from the federal government? 
 
Attorney Toft: Well, under, under federal law 
 
Chairperson Perez: [INAUDIBLE] Willing to give money without a contract?  
 
Attorney Toft: So, so if you look at federal law, um, there’s, 2—2CFR 200 applies to all federal 
awards and not just to contracts. It also applies to anything that anybody considers a contract, and 
sub aw—it applies to sub-awards, it applies to all federal award payments, in fact. So, you can’t 
say you have to have a contract, or, because it also applies to sub-awards, and sub-awards may or 
may not be considered a contract. Anything, anything that’s considered contract. So, it’s, and you, 
you can read the definitions in the law, but it does not, um, specifically limit it to contracts. So, so 
it’s applicable to all federal funds.  
 
Chairperson Perez: What is this level? Isn’t that just a contractor sub—subcontracting to another 
entity? 
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Attorney Toft: No, it’s not a contract.  
 
Ms. Rhodes: Madam Chair, if I could just add, um, I know that we’re trying to use the federal 
contract with the Roosevelt as an example, but it’s not necessarily under the same circumstances 
or even the same kind of environment in what we were dealing with. But also, a letter, letter 
contract isn’t always the preferred way of doing things, it was just the way to bridge things. So, I 
don’t want it to be confused that the letter contract is the only way. The definitized contract is 
actually the way they like to always have it but because we were still having indefinite, indefinite 
days, indefinite numbers of sailors, indefinite number of travelers, that’s the only reason why letter 
contracts were placed. It was so that we can move towards smaller payments and get paid 
incrementally. So, I don’t want it to be misunderstood, that these are the types of contracts that 
should be signed or be considered for federal, and with regards to sub-contracts, even with sub-
contracts, all subcontractors are subject to specific FAR clauses, and so that’s usually in the sub-
contract language, too. So, I just, I don’t think that there’s always one way of doing things with 
the federal government, or even with local government, right, and even a PO counts—a Purchase 
Order, and so it’s usually balled up with a contract later on. But even a Purchase Order would 
count, so I just, I just wanted to put that clarification out because I don’t want to use the Roosevelt 
as the example to compare this to, because those circumstances, also, were very different and how 
we handled it in order to get payments and things moving along was different because we had to 
escalate it up beyond us, NAVSUP in Hawai’i, all the way up to Philadelphia where there’s the 
Directing Officer. They oversee all of NAVSUP in contracting. And so it’s, it, that is where we’re 
at, and, and so I just want to make that clarification because it’s really not fair to try to fit it into 
one box. Because I don’t think there is, generally, one box for federal contracting.  
 
Chairperson Perez: Thank you. Um… 
 
Ms. Rhodes: And I have a lot of experience with OPM contracts too, with health insurance, and 
twelve years at TakeCare FHP, so, and that’s a completely different set of circumstances. So, I 
guess I just wanted to offer that, because I don’t want to get stuck in federal contracting in one 
way of getting reimbursement or payment. 
 
Chairperson Perez: So earlier, Attorney Toft, you mentioned the word ‘purchasing’. What is the 
meaning of purchasing, to your inter—what is your interpretation of the term ‘purchasing’? 
 
Attorney Toft: I, I can’t provide you with legal interpretations. That, that constitutes advice  
 
Chairperson Perez: That’s a general, that’s a general question. There’s not a specific contract or 
any anything specific, it’s, you know, what is, what is the definition of ‘purchasing’?  
 
Attorney Toft: It depends. It depends on what you’re looking at. Are you asking me the definition 
of ‘purchasing’ under Guam’s procurement law, or are you asking me the definition of 
‘purchasing’ under the Health Act, that allows purchases? You know, it differs. So, for the, so 
there’s a, there’s a specific definition for ‘procurement’ that applies to any expenditure of funds, 
which is made under Guam’s procurement law. But if you’re making a purchase not under Guam’s 
procurement law, then a different definition applies. 
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Chairperson Perez: So, what is that definition?  
 
Attorney Toft: Are you asking for the definition that applies to procurements made under Guam’s 
procurement law?  
 
Chairperson Perez: The second, the latter. So, I know the definition for, under procurement law. 
So, I just wanted to see what your definition of ‘purchases’ is under the Emergency Health Powers 
Act. 
 
Attorney Toft: Uh, I, uh, honestly, like, there is no definition in that, in that Act.  
 
Chairperson Perez: There’s no definition. 
 
Attorney Toft: Of, of the Governor’s purchase power? 
 
Chairperson Perez: So… 
 
Attorney Toft: That, that Act does not have a specific definition, as far as I know. 
 
Chairperson Perez: Okay. So, then, that needs to be clarified. That seems, seems to be a loophole 
in the law, in regard to definitions and how that def—that, that word is utilized. In your application 
of that law, Emergency Powers Act, how have you applied that word, ‘purchases’?  
 
Attorney Toft: I can’t tell you how I’ve applied that or how I’ve advised clients. I can’t tell you, 
I cannot, I cannot answer that. 
 
Chairperson Perez: So, you have used it. You have applied it. But you can’t just tell me what, 
how you applied it. 
 
Attorney Toft: I cannot tell you what advice I may or may not have given to clients. I cannot, I 
shall not reveal any information regarding a representation.  
 
Chairperson Perez: Okay, but then [INAUDIBLE] — 
 
Attorney Toft: I cannot be held liable…  
 
Chairperson Perez: How did you apply that word. If, so, for instance, if we had to create a law to 
define ‘purchases’, what recommendation would you give? Since this, there seems to be a gap in 
this. Would you recommend it to mimic?  
 
Attorney Toft: You’re just asking, 
 
Chairperson Perez: procurement law? 
 
Attorney Toft: Asking are you just asking if I had my personal way, um… 
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Chairperson Perez: How would, yeah, what would your recommendations be to define 
[inaudible] — 
 
Attorney Toft: If I had my way, then each individual act would contain the definitions that it 
requires, right. So, so if, if a certain act— So, so federal law defines certain things differently than 
Guam law, right? So, when we have to apply federal law, we have to apply those definitions. When 
we apply Guam law, we apply those definitions. So, each individual act should define its own 
important terms. That’s, so, if…I can’t tell you how I think the term ‘purchase’ should be defined 
in every situation, because every situation is different.  
 
Chairperson Perez: Okay, moving on to more interpretation. Who, in your understand of 
Executive Order 2020-03 who is the primary Public Health Authority?  
 
Attorney Toft: Do you have it? Do you have a copy? I’m sorry, I’m not looking at that right now. 
I don’t have it in front of me. I didn’t, I didn’t get the attachments until really, very close to four 
o’clock. So I wasn’t able to print them all out.  
 
Chairperson Perez: Okay. Do we have a contract, currently, for the quarantine facilities from 
March 16th to March 30th?  
 
Attorney Toft: Okay?  
 
Chairperson Perez: Do we have a contract? For the time periods where there’s, those quarantine 
facilities were utilized?  
 
Attorney Toft: I, personally don’t have any knowledge of, if there’s a, an executed contract or 
not.  
 
Chairperson Perez: Well, being that it was over $500,000 isn’t that a cause of concern for you, 
that there is no contract? And what would, how would you resolve that situation?  
 
Attorney Toft: I didn’t say there’s no contract, I just said I, personally, am unaware of whether 
there’s a signed contract. And, and if I had reviewed anything to it, I wouldn’t be able to tell you 
because that’s attorney-client privileged information.  
 
Chairperson Perez: So, this is concerning because half a million dollars, no contract, and the 
AG’s office is saying they don’t have any, any, any record of it.  
 
Attorney Toft: No, I’m not saying that. I’m saying that I, personally, do not know if there is a, an 
executed contract, somewhere. But, even if I had reviewed anything relating to that matter, I can’t 
reveal any of that to you. It’s attorney-client privileged.  
 
Chairperson Perez: Okay. So, I am going to open the floor to my colleagues. Senator Therese 
Terlaje, you have the floor.  
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Senator Terlaje: Thank you, Madam Chair. And, and thank you for the thorough job that you’ve 
been doing. Um, it’s very quite—it’s, there’s so many things in this hearing, and I know, you 
know, we’re all kind of limited. But so many issues that I think have been brought to light, and it’s 
particularly, you know, these responses that give us no responses, that—it, it’s very disturbing. 
The Attorney General’s role in our procurement is to, to see whether these are legal. Whether they 
have followed the procurement law, whether they’ve done it legally, whether the contract is 
approved, as to form. And so, I guess, I would like to ask, uh, whoever is here representing the 
Attorney General of Guam, whether the Attorney General was asked advice on this procurement, 
assistance on this procurement, or were they asked to review the contract performed?  
 
Attorney Mendiola: What I can say about this, is that we were requested to assist the Governor 
with various legal matters regarding procurement and because we were asked for legal advice, 
which, of course, Senator Therese, you understand, it is frustrating but it is very important to 
respect the attorney-client privilege. And because, because their office asked our office for legal 
advice, it triggered the privilege and we are not able to disclose what our communications were. 
That’s correct and I remember a case when there were illegal pay raises, when the Attorney 
General’s Office had given advice to the Governor’s Office and then had to procure a special 
prosecutor in order to investigate whether it was legal or not because, because they had got 
involved in the front end. So, yes, I understand why there is conflict, now. But we were told many 
media interviews, that these, I don’t know, it was my understanding that the contracts were before 
the AG for, for review. But I think it’s under the authority of the, the actual procurement authority, 
Madam, Madam Speaker, like, like you have talked about and with me. Mr. Huynh, is there a 
document, or an executive—is there an Executive Order where the government, the Governor 
orders that the procurement laws or rules were suspended?  
 
Mr. Branch: They’re asking you. 
 
Attorney Huynh: Executive Order 2020-03.  
 
Senator Terlaje: Can you, can you read that part?  
 
Attorney Huynh: It states, ma’am, ma’am, under paragraph 4: ‘Suspension of Statutes, Orders, 
Rules and Regulations that prevent, hinder or delay necessary action to respond to the emergency, 
pursuant to §19-403(a)(1) of Chapter 19, Title 10 Guam Code Annotated. Statutes, orders, rules, 
and regulations that prevent, hinder or delay necessary action to prepare for or respond to this 
public health emergency, including but not limited to, purchases and hiring, are here by my 
suspended.  
 
Senator Terlaje: Alright. And so, and we also heard from Carlo Branch that the Governor did not 
procure, pursuant to the procurement law of Guam 5GCA, and from you, and that the authority all 
came from this 10GCA Chapter 19 and then later on, you said it came from the Organic Act, and 
now the Attorney General is telling us the authority is actually coming from 2 CFR. And, uh, you 
know, was there any document or Executive Order that stated that compliance with the emergency 
procurement laws on our statutes would have prevented, hindered, or delayed necessary action by 
the Public Authority, which is, uh, Department of Public Health?  
 



 

194 Hernan Cortes Avenue, Terlaje Professional Building, 1st Floor, Hagåtña, Guam 96910 
671.989.2968•office@senatorperez.org• 

Attorney Huynh: I don’t know if the, uh, I’m certain that the Public Health Authority does not 
have the authority to suspend law. That’s reserved for the Executive, in the Executive Order.  
 
Senator Terlaje: Right. And what you just read says the Executive has the authority, by Executive 
Order, to suspend the law if it would have prevented, hindered, or delayed necessary action by the 
Public Health Authority. And Linda you’re still here, Madam Director, did you ever request to the 
Governor that she bypass regular, emergency procurement for the procurement of these hotels? 
 
Ms. DeNorcey: I didn’t, I didn’t, uh, request anything. At all.  
 
Senator Terlaje: Alright. And, and, I, I know we keep talking about, you know, the procurement 
being handled by the Governor’s Office but it’s every clear under this statute that, if she, um, that 
the Public Health Authority is the one with the emergency health procurement authority. And, 
when the, when the, um…So, was it your testimony, Mr. Huynh, that the Governor’s Organic Act 
Authority allows her to bypass the procurement laws of Guam? And that— 
 
Mr. Esteves: I don’t believe I testified to that, ma’am. I believe that I testified to my statements, 
and that I was willing to read all the laws that were available, but I was not going to give 
interpretation or advice I had given to my client.  
 
Senator Terlaje: Alright. Mr. Esteves, do you, in your experience, have you ever departed from 
the, in seeking reimbursement from FEMA, have you ever departed from using the procurement 
laws of Guam? So, just let you know, they are only two statutes required for FEMA Procurement 
Standards and one is 2CFR 2322—that’s the Procurement of Recovered Materials and then 2CFR 
200.326 Contract Provisions. So that, those are the guiding, or, the guidelines that we follow.  
 
Senator Terlaje: Right. But you, in order to get the procurement, you have to meet the FEMA’s 
guidelines. I mean, I’m sorry, to, in order to get reimbursements. But you’re getting 
reimbursements for, for purchases that have been made through the Chief Procurement Officer, is 
that correct? 
 
Mr. Esteves: Correct. But I believe this is CARES Act funded, from when I was hearing earlier. 
For the quarantine facility, so if it’s CARES Act funding, which is a federal fund, then we would 
not be a seeking reimbursement for anything funded under the CARES Act. 
 
Senator Terlaje: That’s right, and it’s kind of sordid there, isn’t it, that we did not follow Guam 
Procurement Law, so we couldn’t use Guam funds. And then, we didn’t follow, and we couldn’t 
seek FEMA reimbursement. So now, we have to use CARES funds, but, Mr. Esteves, when, do 
you know when the CARES Act was passed? 
 
Mr. Esteves: Uh, I, I, so I don’t know the exact date it was passed, um, I just, I do know that 
FEMA’s constantly changing the rules, um, you know, due to the novel nature of this emergency. 
I’ll give a, give an example, we recently received, uh, word that the POTUS has approved, for, 
POTUS approved the use of CARES Act money for the 25% cost share for the FEMA Public 
Assistance Program. But, but implementation guidance hasn’t been passed down to states and 
territories, yet. So, uh, you know, like, like I stated earlier, you know, we, we will submit whatever 
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we can for reimbursement, and basically, work with our federal partners to, to maximize use of 
the FEMA Public Assistance Program. But if it, like I said, if it’s all CARES Act funding, which 
is, you know, federal fund, then it’s a, it’s a moot point because 
 
Senator Terlaje: The argument 
 
Mr. Esteves: [INAUDIBLE] we don’t need to follo—  
 
Senator Terlaje: The argument tonight is that, pursuant to CARES funds, if it’s CARES funds, 
we don’t need to follow any laws. No—  
 
Mr. Esteves: No, no— 
 
Senator Terlaje: No Guam procurement laws [INAUDIBLE]— 
 
Mr. Esteves: Uh, no, no, I didn’t— 
 
Senator Terlaje: [INAUDIBLE] we don’t need a contract, that’s what somebody’s trying to say 
to me— 
 
Mr. Esteves: Yeah, I— 
 
Senator Terlaje: And, have you ever issued a payment without contract?  
 
Mr. Esteves: Uh, so I’m just speaking in terms of the reimbursement. So, anything funded under 
the CARES Act, we wouldn’t be seeking, uh, federal reimbursement for that.  
 
Senator Terlaje: Right. It’s not eligible, well, yeah, bec—and, if we can’t get FEMA 
reimbursement, we have no other choice but to go for using our limited CARES funds for these 
purchases, right? Whereas, FEMA has specific, they do reimburse for, for quarantine facilities, 
that’s my understanding. 
 
Mr. Esteves: Yeah, and so, uh, um— 
 
Senator Terlaje: Have you ever, Mr. Esteves, have you ever issued payment without a contract? 
Is that a common practice for you?  
 
Mr. Esteves: Uh, I, so, the process in our office is, um, we, uh, issue payments for those items that 
we have a purchase order for. Per contract.  
 
Senator Terlaje: Alright, and Claudia, have you, when you pur—recently you procured, uh, at 
least two hotels, is that correct, through the normal Guam procurement laws? And, did you find 
that there was anything in our statutes that would have ‘prevented, hindered, or delayed necessary 
action’ in that procurement?  
 
Ms. Acfalle: Um, no. None. 
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Senator Terlaje: Did you have contracts in those procurements? 
 
Ms. Acfalle: Um, yes, we issued, uh, purchase orders on May, on May 16th. But it took us less 
than seven days to actually procure and put a contract and a purchase order issued to, uh, 
[inaudible] those two hotels.  
 
Attorney Huynh: Ma’am, the difference, like I said, in my statement is the amount of time. 
 
Mr. Branch: We didn’t have seven days. 
 
Attorney Huynh: We didn’t have that—  
 
Mr. Branch: We had two. 
 
Attorney Huynh: We didn’t have seven days, ma’am. 
 
Senator Terlaje: Yes, and at that point when you were acting, you didn’t have CARES funding, 
and I don’t even see it, at that point, Mr. Esteves, did they even have FEMA declaration, at that 
point? Mar—the, GHRA testified earlier that, that they had begun this process since January. And 
that was the whole point was to, you know, look at hotels in advance. And, Mary did—am I 
understanding correctly, that you did not lead the Government of Guam to the Pacific Star? 
 
Ms. Rhodes: That’s correct. Um, so let me ans—answer the first one. I’m sorry, I have some 
feedback. The first question was the timeline, again. January, really, we only started asking that 
question, was to fill the open-ended questions on our Pandemic Plan, right. So, we were doing the 
workshop, and so that was actually more of, uh, an exercise between myself and Public Health to 
see what kind of capacity building we needed, with the hotels for mass shelter, if we needed large 
quarantine facilities. The actual activation of that did not take place until our second and third 
inquiry, which was later in February and March. Homeland Security contacted me, um, I believe 
it was the second week in, no…I think, I have to look back, but I believe it was the first week in 
March, to start looking at things and then the second week, I believe it was March 12th, already I 
had confirmed with the Homeland Security Advisor that, what the responses were and by March 
14th we already, I sent the email to the Chief of Staff and Homeland Security Advisor with regards 
to which hotels will be participating, who said yes. To answer your other, can you restate your, 
your last question? [inaudible] 
 
Senator Terlaje: Did you direct the Government of Guam to the Pacific Star? 
 
Ms. Rhodes: No. The Pacific Star only responded yes after March 19th when we already met with 
the other hotels. We met with Days Inn and Wyndham, at that point, and Core Tech. Core Tech 
declined to participate. I did not meet with Hotel Santa Fe or Pacific Star. I did not conduct any of 
those site assessments. I did not conduct anything for the Manila-bound travelers with those 
facilities. I did not conduct any other site assessments. I only conducted site assessments and, 
because the travelers for Hilton, Outrigger, Fiesta, and Leopalace, they had to pay for those 
quarantine services if they stayed there. Whether they are foreign travelers, or US travelers coming 
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in as a contractor, or military. So, I was coordinating a majority of that. With Manila travelers, 
those facilities with Days Inn, Wyndham, Santa Fe, that was directly coordinated with Public 
Health at the airport, to go straight to those hotels. Again, with Pacific Star, all we did was provide 
their response when they res[inaudible] to us after March 19th. We shared that email to HSA 
Security Adviser Tim Aguon, Chief of Staff at the time, Tony Babauta, and with Legal Counsel 
Haig Huynh, uh, Huynh. So, that was shared, and then they con—they handled all of the 
conversations with Pacific Star. And for the record, Perlas Court is not a member of GHRA, I did 
not participate in that at all, either.  
 
Senator Terlaje: Alright. And then who, who made the first payment to these hotels? To these 
early procured hotels? Is it, Mr. Birn, is that you? When was the first payment made? 
 
Mr. Birn: Senator? 
 
Senator Terlaje: Yes. 
 
Mr. Birn: Yes, they were made.  
 
Senator Terlaje: Yeah, when was it made Mr. Birn? 
 
Mr. Birn: On, on, um, April 3rd. And the CARES Act was passed on March 27th. 
 
Senator Terlaje: Alright, I’m going to get that on the record, Mr. Birn. So, you, you used CARES 
funds to pay for these hotels? 
 
Mr. Birn: Yes. We will be using CARES funds.  
 
Senator Terlaje: [INAUDIBLE] Alright. Thank you, Madam Chair. I will reserve, I guess other 
questions for, the others who haven’t been given a chance, but it’s very concerning that the 
procurement was done in advance of even the CARES Act being passed, it was done, you know, 
blatant disregard of procurement law, and it’s very concerning that we’re now saying it’s okay to 
procure and, and without contracts. It doesn’t make any sense. I think it’s a disservice to the People 
of Guam that, after all these years, you know, dealing with emergencies and our emergency 
procurement law, that we are now saying that it was, was not enough for us. And that we have 
disregarded it, and just, I think that’s a, a very dangerous road to go down, Madam Spea—Madam 
Chair. Thank you.  
 
Chairperson Perez: Thank you, Senator Terlaje and I, I agree with that, completely, that, in this 
procurements network that we have, that there seems to be some sort of disregarded of the 
procurement law. And the question is, is, what is the implications for that? I don’t see any kind of 
concern, so far, from those that are testifying that it could jeopardize the federal funds. Considering 
there’s no concerted determination, or interpretation of how we should proceed with any kind of 
procurement. And for that matter, even ‘procurement’, the term ‘procurement’ is not even 
followed; the term ‘purchases’ has come up. And we can’t even get a straight answer of what that 
means, and so we don’t have, I think it’s, that needs to be defined so that we have a consistent path 
forward from this point on. I just wanted to see, I know that Stephanie Flores, so if you can 
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basically tell us what agency you’re from, if you could just identify yourself in what agency, and 
what is your responsibility there?  
 
Stephanie Flores, Administrator, Guam State Clearinghouse: Yes, uh, good evening everyone, 
good evening ladies and gentlemen at home, and members of the 35th Legislature that are present. 
My name is Stephanie Flores and I am the Director of the Guam State Clearinghouse. My role as 
the Director of the Guam State Clearinghouse is to oversee the proper expenditure of federal funds 
that come to the Government of Guam. 
 
Chairperson Perez: Okay. And so, you are overseeing procurement from [inaudible] perspective, 
is that correct?  
 
Ms. Flores: I do not engage in procurement. My office does not do any procurement. What we do, 
is, we monitor for compliance purposes, the expenditure of funds. So, when it comes to federal 
funds, as Ms. Toft has said, we are directed by 2 CFR 200. 
 
Chairperson Perez: Okay. And so— 
 
Ms. Flores: So, what we do is, we make sure that the individual government agencies who are 
granted funds follow whatever they need to follow and, in terms of reporting requirements, re—as 
required by their specific grant. So, every grant comes with it, some guidance, and it is my office’s 
function to make sure that that guidance is followed and if it’s not, well it’s our job to point out 
that that needs to be followed.  
 
Chairperson Perez: Do you also monitor the procurement aspect, if it was done in a certain way, 
or if there are contracts that exist, or the form of contracts? Is that something that you monitor? Or 
what, what falls under reporting, when you’re looking [INAUDIBLE], whether [INAUDIBLE]— 
 
Ms. Flores: So, insofar as reporting requirements, so every federal agency requires documents it’s 
uh SF-242, I believe that is the form that that you file and it, you report to your federal grantor 
what has been done over a certain period. Sometimes the reporting period is quarterly, sometimes 
it’s semi-annually, it depends on the grant. And we make sure that you report online. We remind 
agencies to report on time, to make sure that they upload through either www.grants.gov or directly 
to the federal grantor, what report is required by the terms of their specific grant.  
 
Chairperson Perez: Okay. So, you don’t, you don’t oversee the procurement aspect, you just see 
that the monies that they are granted is following the terms of their expenditures, but not 
procurement, itself. Is that correct? 
 
Ms. Flores: We do not generally delve into the specifics of the procurement, but we do remind 
agencies that they are required to follow all applicable laws. So, every law is, in effect, that is, 
applies to the particular situation, we make sure that they follow that. We suggest strongly that 
they follow that. 
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Chairperson Perez: Okay. And do you have a clear idea of what those laws are? Do you have a, 
a comprehensive list of that, or you basically leave it up to the agencies to identify that for 
themselves?  
 
Ms. Flores: Well, I mean, when an agency is expending funds, if they’re going to enter into sub-
award agreements or they have to procure things, they already know that they have to follow 
whatever process of procurement or getting their contracts and sub-awards approved. If there is a 
sub-award agreement, that normally will go to the Attorney General’s Office, and more often than 
not, Ms. Toft is the one that reviews that and ensures that the language of 2 CFR 200 is included 
in those memorandums of understanding or sub-award agreements.  
 
Chairperson Perez: Okay. Is there a dollar amount that the attorney’s office, is there a threshold 
where the attorney’s office looks at it, or is it just any federal money coming through, as far as 
sub-awards go?  
 
Ms. Flores: I have, in my own experience, seen contract or sub-awards that have been less than 
$100,000 that we’ve sent through the Attorney General’s Office and some awards were roughly 
$500,000. And so, it does not necessarily have to be $500,000. If there is a contract that is required, 
more often than not, it is going to go through the Attorney General’s Office. 
 
Chairperson Perez: Thank you. 
 
Ms. Flores: For review. 
 
Attorney Mendiola: And Madam Chair, again, just speak generally, just to clarify the difference 
in the threshold amount, our office is involved in procurement in two separate parts. If there’s a 
procurement that is anticipated to be over half a million dollars, you are required to be a part of 
the re—the review process and consulted along the way, in that procurement process. Other than 
that, our office is involved in what is what [inaudible] mentioned earlier, more toward the and part, 
we look at the review of the contracts for the legality as a form of content. So that’s probably why 
there’s, uh, Ms. Flores’s comment is different [INAUDIBLE] thresholds.  
 
Chairperson Perez: Okay. Thank you. So, I have a, just a, another question. Does the Attorney 
General’s Office, so, Attorney Toft, is, are verbal agreements accepted? Are they acceptable? 
 
Attorney Toft: Uh, under what law, under federal law or under Guam’s procurement law?  
 
Chairperson Perez: Whatever. Both. Either.  
 
Attorney Toft: I mean, under, under Guam’s procurement law, no. Under federal law, as was 
previously stated, that, you know, they operated on verbal agreements and then got emails later. 
The federal government, they, they have different standards.  
 
Chairperson Perez: Okay. But, yeah, as what was stated earlier, it wasn’t a verbal agreement, it 
had to be followed up with written agreements. It wasn’t just a, specifically, a verbal agreement.  
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Attorney Toft: It, it, it, yes, but they operated initially under a verbal agreement. I, I can’t, I can’t 
say specifically, like, but there are instances where the federal government does offer, operate 
under verbal agreements. So, under, under federal law, they followed them up, later. But it just 
depends on each federal, uh, funding source.  
 
Chairperson Perez: Okay— 
 
Attorney Mendiola: And to add to that, if I may, from a general, contracting law standpoint, I 
know this is the most common lawyer answer, but it really does depend, because whether or not 
there’s a written contract is not the end-all be-all. In contract law, there are three main requirements 
for a contract to exist, which is offer, acceptance, and consideration. And that can sometimes exist 
with writing, and that can sometimes exist without writing. And that is, the writing is sometimes 
required in order to enforce the contract, the writing is sometimes not required. So, under 
government procurement, GovGuam procurement, there are specific requirements in place, and 
sometimes those would require writing for specific requirements in place that triggers certain 
process, and that process then triggers whether or not our office is involved or not, and in what 
capacity. On the federal side, there are separate contracting requirements that would be required. 
But overall, for example, under government claims, there could be parties who come to the 
government, who file a claim and say, ‘hey, we are owed money.’ and there may have not been a 
written contract, but it depends on what the parameters were of that particular case. And sometimes 
those cases may be paid out and there may have never been the contract, and sometimes those 
cases were paid differently from what existing written contract had specified. So, it really does 
depend.  
 
Chairperson Perez: So, um, following up with that, so, when the payments were made, was that 
when the Government Claims Act was utilized or was that under authorized payments?  
 
Attorney Mendiola: I can’t speak to this specific procurement. I would divert— 
 
Chairperson Perez: [INAUDIBLE] were these, payments were made without a contract. Would 
that qualify as unauthorized payments, or would it qualify as utilization of the Government Claims 
Act?  
 
Attorney Mendiola: It would depend on the situation. For this specific procurement, I’m not, I’m 
not aware of the details. But, in general, what is authorized or not, again, depends on the facts of 
the case. And then if the case, the fact of the case establishes that there was a contract arrangement, 
written or not, then whether a payment was made, or not, could have been authorized or 
unauthorized. But this is, I’m just speaking, to be very clear, I’m speaking about government, I’m 
speaking about contract law, in general, and the different parameters of government contracts law, 
which is our local government procurement process, the Government Claims Act, or federal 
government contracting. 
 
Chairperson Perez: Thank you. Attorney Toft, did the federal government waive any requirement 
for legal binding contracts for the expenditure of their funds, to your knowledge?  
 
Attorney Toft: I’m sorry, are you asking about, in this case? Or, just in general?  
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Chairperson Perez: Perhaps in regard to the CARES Act, or any kind of federal funding, did the 
federal government waive a legally binding contract requirement?  
 
Attorney Toft: If you’re asking about this specific, the CARES Act and this specific matter, I 
can’t, again, I can’t answer that question. 
 
Chairperson Perez: That’s something that’s important to find out, would you say?  
 
Attorney Toft: I can’t discuss the, the, this matter.  
 
Chairperson Perez: For the CARES Act, in the general, isn’t that a piece of information that’s 
important to find out, whether the federal government waives any legally binding contracts for 
their expenditure funds?  
 
Attorney Toft: In general, can the federal government waive its own requirements? The answer 
is, yes, in general, they can.  
 
Chairperson Perez: In regard to the CARES Act. Has the federal government waived that 
requirement? 
 
Attorney Toft: Well, the CARES Act relates directly to this matter.  
 
Chairperson Perez: Yeah, there’s other, the CARES Act as a whole universe, it’s not just this 
one. But to your knowledge does the CARES Act, is it, has the federal government waived this 
requirement for a legally binding contract? 
 
Attorney Toft: I, I can’t, I can’t answer any questions directly relating to this matter, which, 
whether they had waived the CARES Act provisions, would relate directly to this matter. 
 
Chairperson Perez: Okay. So, perhaps we can go back to interpretations? So, 2 GARR §2112(c) 
states: ‘the CPO or authorized official shall execute all contracts with the government of Guam. 
The CPO may approve standard form contracts or purchase orders.’ And this is why I’m asking 
you the question. Are you aware of any standard form contracts or purchase orders? And if you 
provide that to the committee. It goes on say that ‘contracts or purchase orders made on such form 
may be executed without further approval of the Chief Procurement Officer’. So— 
 
Attorney Toft: Uh, I apologize— 
 
Chairperson Perez: What is your interpretation of that section? It’s 2 GARR §2112(c). What is 
your interpretation of that? 
 
Attorney Toft: I apologize. You, you’re, you’re asking if the Chief Procurement Officer can, can 
dictate their own contract forms? Yes— 
 
Chairperson Perez: [INAUDIBLE] 
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Attorney Toft: GSA, the Chief Procurement Officer is in charge of all procurements conducted 
by GSA. And in that case, the Chief Procurement Officer has, and does, use standard forms that 
they do for GSA-conducted procurements.  
 
Chairperson Perez: Okay. In regard to the second part: ‘contracts or purchase orders may be 
made on such form, may be executed without further approval of the Chief Procurement Officer.’ 
So, that’s why I’m asking the question. What is the standard form that you approve as an AG?  
 
Attorney Toft: Again, as I said, there is no standard form.  
 
Chairperson Perez: So— 
 
Attorney Toft: We review every contract to ensure that it meets the requirements imposed by law. 
There is no standard form. We review, we review things such as emergency procurements, and 
those are different than RFPs, and those are different from IFPs, those, 
 
Chairperson Perez: And, and— 
 
Attorney Toft: There are even different types of contracts within each of those types of 
procurements. There’s everything from reimbursement contracts, to leases, to leases with 
[INAUDIBLE] of purchase, to fixed-price types of contracts, versus fixed-price contracts with 
price adjustment, and they all have different provisions that are imposed on them by law. So, there 
is no standard form. 
 
Chairperson Perez: Well there is, the standard form is based on [INAUDIBLE] 
 
Attorney Mendiola: Madam Chair? 
 
Chairperson Perez: And that’s what I’m asking. You know, and [INAUDIBLE] 
 
Attorney Mendiola: Yeah, Madam Chair? 
 
Chairperson Perez: I would like you to provide that type of information to the committee. 
 
Attorney Mendiola: I think [INAUDIBLE]— 
 
Attorney Toft: We, we don’t have any. 
 
Attorney Mendiola: I can answer your question, though, it’s not—this is where I was, where I 
first, um, attempted to help clarify the discussion. We don’t have a standard form that we provide. 
No, no entity does. A standard form that is provided, that is then required ‘to the t’ to be used in 
order for a contract to be valid or for an approving authority to sign off on. ‘Form’, again, I guess 
is a legal term of art. For example, if helps to illustrate, when I was the legal counsel for the 
Legislature’s Committee on Rules, we had to review legislative contracts based on the requirement 
that were in the Legislature’s Standing Rules. We had a template that we use between Legal, 
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Bureau, and Committee on Rules, but every time received a request from a different office for a 
contract that they provided, it wasn’t necessarily that every single time was exactly the same 
“form”. What we were reviewing is, we looked at the Legislature’s Standing Rules, we looked at 
the contract that was before us, and we reviewed it to figure out whether or not the ‘form’ of that 
contract, on its face, ‘form’ as in, the paragraphs, the signatures, the content, whatever was required 
in the form of that contract, was in line with whatever the sounding roles required. And so, there 
wasn’t a “form”, and I think that’s a little bit where, of where the conversation is a bit circular, 
here, is, we don’t have a standard ‘form’ that must be followed ‘to the t’. It’s just a legal term of 
art that a contract has to meet a certain ‘form,’ which is then reviewed by attorneys, based on 
whatever type of contract it is, and whatever the requirements are in law that govern that particular 
contract, which are the different categories that Attorney Toft ran through.  
 
Chairperson Perez: Okay. Thank you. Um, so I would like to open the floor to Senator Castro. 
Senator Castro, you have the floor.  
 
Senator Castro: I thank you, Madam Chair. You know I’ve been sitting here for as long as many 
of you have, and I guess now this is the time to express maybe just my frustration. But before I do 
that, I want to thank you, the director of DPHSS, for your straightforward answers, and even 
yourself, Mr. Estevez. Chuck, for your subject matter expertise. At least I was able to record that 
and try to make sense of that. But you know, Madam Chair, I, forgive me, I’m not a lawyer, and 
it’s just, just kind of getting very frustrating with this lawyer talk, you know. It’s sometimes this, 
and it’s sometimes that, and I can, I can’t tell you this, but, but I can tell you that, and, and here’s, 
here’s what little I know, Madam Chair. You know, just being a secondary ed. teacher and applying 
my common-sense understanding of, based on my experience as a director. You know, that I’m of 
the opinion, not the legal opinion, that, yes there are emergency powers, you know, that are meant 
for my flexibility and these flexibilities, as my colleague Senator Terlaje, alluded to, are really 
meant to forego any unreasonable delays, or even obstructions to attain goods or services in time 
and of an emergency. And I can relate to that, I understand that, if there’s obstructions in the road, 
or businesses that are wiped out, because they’re not available to respond to you, I get that. But 
you know, I just got to say that notwithstanding that, Madam Chair, I certainly can hope that the 
public can, the members of this body, you know, can hope that the official in charge of making 
these decisions, even under these emergency powers, can apply some balance. They can act 
lawfully, and I’m not suggesting anybody acted illegally and unlawfully. But, can act reasonably 
and with integrity. It’s my opinion, Madam Chair that Emergency Powers Act—based on 
everything I’m hearing, it’s, it’s kind of convoluted and there, we haven’t even gotten to the two 
other issues that I’m very concerned about, in terms of procurement. But emergency power, of my 
opinion, doesn’t permit any public employee to override your overarching obligation to the general 
public. And, based on what I heard from the GSA’s testimony, Claudia, she was able to say that 
they were able to execute an agreement within seven days, so I assume it didn’t seem, well, it 
wasn’t unreasonable then. And, and I do have two questions. My first question, Madam Chair, is 
to the legal counsel. And, and, and with all due respect, you know, sir, if you can’t answer the 
question, if you could just refer me to someone or refer to someone on this panel who represents 
the Executive Branch, to answer it. But my question is pretty straightforward. Is there, I’m just 
trying to make sense of something to follow. Is there a procurement record that you are aware of, 
that I can follow? This is my first question to you, Mr. Huynh. Is there, is there a procurement 
record that may be on file that I can request of, to review and provide copies for my colleagues?  
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Attorney Huynh: Sir, this isn’t— 
 
Senator Castro: Okay I’ll go on— 
 
Attorney Huynh: [INAUDIBLE] 
 
Senator Castro: I’m sorry, I’m sorry, go ahead. 
 
Attorney Huynh: This is not a procurement, uh, in terms of, uh, what you are trying to…I think 
that’s the difficulty, here, sir, and I’m trying not to be…I understand what you’re trying to say. I 
understand what your concerns are. But we are, we’re talking about two different issues, here.  
 
Senator Castro: Okay. 
 
Attorney Huynh: Uh, this, this is not a procurement. This was an emergency purchase.  
 
Senator Castro It’s an emergency—I’m sorry, because I know I only got a limited amount of time 
and I don’t want you to sit here more than you have to, and I appreciate your time. Is there a 
purchasing, is there a pur—emergency purchase activity record? Is there a folder in your office 
that has documents that were received in the time they were received, even if they’re not even in 
orderly fashion, that, that we can take a look at and make copies for ourselves, notwithstanding 
what I heard from the representatives from the Attorney General, that they can’t even share a 
contract because its attorney-client privilege. I think I’ve been down that road before, and someone 
has a copy somewhere, and it is my humble opinion that that is a property of the people of Guam, 
and so I just, my name, my name and understanding of the situation, is there an emergency 
purchase record that I, or any sitting member of the Guam Legislature can avail themselves to, 
even under, I guess, a order of confidentiality?  
 
Attorney Huynh: Uh, sir, I think all the, um, the documents referring to, they have been disclosed 
as part of the FOIAs. Um, they have been disclosed as part of the, the submissions that we gave to 
the Chairwoman in one of her letter requests that we also, I believe we copied the Speaker on it, 
but if not, we’ll send it, again. Those con—those contain the emergency purchase agreements, 
where the Governor does, uh, have her orders on top of it. Uh, those documents have been, um, 
provided on the numerous occasions and numerous forms, and finally the memo that I provided to 
you, and I’m sorry, again, that it came so quickly, so close in time to the start of this oversight uh, 
but because of my other duties I didn’t, uh, have that sent to you a day in advance. But that also, 
um, would, would give you some context on what happened. Coupled with— 
 
Senator Castro: I appreciate that— 
 
Attorney Huynh: Numerous, uh— 
 
Senator Castro: And maybe what I’m gonna do— 
 
Attorney Huynh: [INAUDIBLE] 
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Senator Castro: Um, counselor, if I could— 
 
Attorney Huynh: Oh, I’m sorry. 
 
Senator Castro: It, it, it, and I thank you, forgive me. Perhaps it’s, uh, it, it’s, I’ll do my due 
diligence, what I’m gonna do is piecemeal all that back, because I, you know, there were different 
people involved in different parts of this discussion. Let me put my next question in. 
[INAUDIBLE] it can be more direct, and I apologize, I’ll go back, I’ll do my diligence to piece 
together and find out when someone was or was not involved. And, and, and I think that’s really 
what a lot of us are wanting to know. So, my question, my second question’s for Stephanie Flores, 
the Director of the Guam State Clearinghouse. Steph, based on my, again, limited experience with 
federally funded programs, it’s my understanding that the feds would never allow us, to make, the 
federal government would never allow us to make an advanced payment without a contract. Rather, 
that, once a contract is in place, you can petition the federal entity or entities, your federal programs 
officer, based on my experience, to provide a payment in advance of the delivery or the receipt of 
goods or services. That assumes, of course, that the federal officer between you and the US agency 
had approved that exception or that waiver. So, is that an accurate assessment, because if it is, you 
know, that helps me think more clearly, sending a straightforward, answer other than sometimes 
it’s this, or sometimes it’s that, is that consistent with our understanding, uh, Steph, if you don’t 
mind?  
 
Ms. Flores: Um, yes, that is consistent. You, the federal government, in most cases, will require 
the contracts to be in place or the agreements to be in place. But that agreement can contemplate 
payments in advance of the receipt of actual good and services. 
 
Senator Castro: Okay, thank you. And Madam, Chair, thank you for that time. I appreciate it, 
and, I’m gonna go back to take a look at the record, and I know, uh, the attorney, uh, is acting in 
good faith. Mr. Huynh, and if I have any further questions, I will ask you at another time. Thank 
you, counselor, I appreciate it.  
 
Chairperson Perez: Yeah, yeah, just—yeah, okay, yeah. Senator Moylan, I know you’ve been 
waiting, I apologize. You have the floor.  
 
Senator Moylan: Thank you, Madam Chair. A question for attorney Haig: Now, from my 
understanding, that you admitted that the Governor is the Procuring Authority. I’m wondering, did 
either you or, or the Governor see any conflict of interest when the contract was entered with the 
Pacific Star hotel, knowing that the hotel company has a Bank of Guam mortgage of $32 million? 
Please.  
 
Attorney Huynh: Sir, you know more information than I do about that, so, no.  
 
Senator Moylan: Thank you, Madam Chair. Thank you, Mr. Haig. 
 
Chairperson Perez: Thank you, senator. Senator Telo Taitague, you the floor. 
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Senator Taitague: Si Yu'os Ma'åse', Madam Chair. And Madam Chair, I just, I want to make a 
comment. I first want to thank everyone who’s here today and providing any information that you 
have. And, and that, questions that were asked that couldn’t be answered, I hope we can get those, 
and soon, after this meeting. And, I hope, Madam Chair, we have another meeting to give us the 
opportunity to review the tapes on what people said, because there’s, there’s some contradictions 
with, regarding to, who was part of what, and what was seen, and what was not seen. So, I 
appreciate that. I greatly appreciate Mary Rhodes who is here today to seek and, and to light a lot 
of concerns that we had, or definitely, backed up some comments that were made earlier. I 
appreciate her being here. Because one of those comments definitely was, she was not involved 
with the Pacific Star negotiations. So, at the end of that, I just want to ask one question before I 
say goodbye. So, Mr. Haig, were you involved in the negotiations at the Pacific Star?  
 
Attorney Huynh: Uh, it depends on how you’re—ma’am, if you’re asking me if I, uh, had 
parameters that were applied equally to everybody, that were given to me and that were 
communicated, the answer is yes, that, I was given parameters, and, uh, they were communicated 
to everybody and whoever responded, um, who were [INAUDIBLE]. 
 
Senator Taitague: Okay. Thank you. Thank you for [INAUDIBLE] that, Haig. Okay. Thank you, 
Madam Chair.  
 
Chairperson Perez: We’re gonna take a quick rest, MES needs to reset the tapes, so everyone can 
stay [inaudible] or if you want to take a break. I think it’s like a 30-minute break or so…So, are 
we in recess?  
 
 
Chairperson Perez: Thank you, and welcome back, the committee is back from recess. I just want 
to touch up a couple of issues. So, Director Linda DeNorcey, so, are you aware that you are the 
primary Public Health Authority, and what does that mean to you, having been designated that?   
 
Ms. DeNorcey: Yes, I am aware I am the Public Health Authority, and what that means is, I am 
responsible for the Department of Public Health and our response, in regard to any emergencies, 
in this particular case, the virus, which is the COVID-19. So, my job is to ensure the safety of the 
community, and my job is to make certain that all the public are made aware of this outbreak and 
the pandemic, and that we are to do our job, which is to ensure that all aspects of our entire Incident 
Command System is in place, and from the government, from the department’s perspective, to 
make certain that we have our investigation unit, our containment, our isolation, or our whole 
system of staff that are able to do contract tracing, surveillance, and follow-up, and to ensure that 
we also do what it takes to do tracing and contact follow-up, household follow-up, community 
follow-up of all known positive cases, and also, to make certain that if there’s any infection, the 
whole community gets very educated all the way, about this whole pandemic. I also know that I 
have full authority when it comes to isolating and quarantine, to ensure that the quarantine aspect 
is there, because the incubation period of an infection occurs between two days to 14 days, and the 
purpose of the quarantine is just to ensure that there’s no further spread of the disease, and that we 
are able to monitor travelers that come and that they don’t introduce the virus into our community. 
And if they are exposed or they’re known to have been in areas of hotspots that we ensure that 
they are in an area where they can be monitored, so that if they become asymptomatic to becoming 
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symptomatic, then we’re able to provide them the care that they need and keep them separate from 
the community, so that they don’t go out and, and contaminate other individuals in our community. 
And so that is my primary role, to ensure that there’s delay in transmission, and if there is any 
cases out there, that we contain and delay a further transmission to protect our entire island. 
 
Chairperson Perez: Thank you. And that, that Act, itself, it gives you authority to procure and 
nobody else? [INAUDIBLE] 
 
Ms. DeNorcey: That is correct, according to the Chapter that authorizes that. However, my role, 
in this case, was really my procurement in the aspect of the department. I am a line agency of the 
Department of Public Health, which is a line agency of the Government of Guam. So, when I 
procure things, I have to do it through proper ways, and specifically, all our requisitions, purchase 
orders, if I’m going to, in this particular case, what I have been involved with is, with DLS, the 
Diagnostic Laboratory Services, we had a letter of agreement that was done and then we further 
on, had a MOU that was reviewed by both parties, the AG, and also diagnostic labs legal counsel, 
and then we had a purchase order for those laboratory tests so that we can increase the capacity for 
us to do testing, not only with our laboratory at Public Health, but also with the other laboratory. 
And in line with that, um, my also, my goal was to ensure that we had enough nurses throughout 
the community, because we were in charge of providing support to the Airport, to the Port 
Authority, we also had support for all the isolation quarantine areas, and also the public health 
facilities, so that we can continue to monitor patients and to provide the services and continue to 
function, the primary health care centers of northern, southern, and central public health, and we 
also established a public health facility that is up at Barrigada Heights for this particular disaster, 
so we can provide services at all angles. And in line with this, knowing that nurses were really 
scarce in the whole community and it’s a great shortage everywhere, we were able to get the 
support from the other Government of Guam agencies, such as the Guam Department of 
Education, where we also had their nurses and we also were getting the support from Guam 
Community College. And, again, we were able to work hand-in-hand to put them in different 
places, as I mentioned earlier, to provide that support. In line with that, we also had other sources 
and, in particular, I, my role was to ensure that the services that are rendered are adequate. So, in 
the beginning when we were going through this process we had, I had a MOA that was given to 
me by the Health Services of the Pacific, and in that case, I reviewed it and I showed it to the 
Governor and I showed it to her, because we really lacked a lot of nursing services. And so, that 
MOA was actually signed by the Governor on the 20th and then, when I looked at it, I signed it 
after. She signed it on the 19th, excuse me, and I signed it on 20th, and then the other party, which 
was Health Services of the Pacific, was supposed to sign it, but they didn’t when it was given to 
my office. So, I called them, and I asked them, if you can, they can sign it so that we can proceed 
to the next step. And so, when I talked to Health Services of the Pacific’s administrator, Lisa, she 
said that they’re gonna have their attorney review it first. So, that’s what happened. And then what 
happened, was I never got a copy of it, you know, until April, before April 24th, I get another, 
another MOA, and that MOA, specifically, has it, which was different from the one that I signed 
with the Governor for the nursing capacity, to help our island. And so, having said that, we, I didn’t 
want to sign it, at all, because it didn’t look the same as the first one. So, I reverted it back to the 
Governor’s Legal Counsel for review. So, you had one, the first one was on March 17th, that was 
the memo, that was given to me for the first one which the Governor and I signed, but the other 
party didn’t sign, which is HSP. And the second one was given to me on the 24th and that one was 
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still not negotiated or there was no agreement, because that was given to the Governor’s Legal 
Counsel. And then later on, as this thing was happening, they provided services and they rendered 
it, and as they rendered the service, I, in particular got, the, uh, the April 24th and the Governor 
had indicated to me that she’ll proceed with signing it, because we still need a nursing, uh, we 
were having such a shortage, as you know, because a lot of our Guam nurses are not going to 
continue. These are nurses at the Guam Department of Education that are going to go back. You 
know, they only have a contract up until the 29th with, uh, with, uh, the department. And so, what 
happens is, after next week, I won’t have these nurses at all. And so, that’s going to have a big 
impact. And we are moving forward and we’re still in this situation, we’re not yet out of the woods, 
and the Governor, then, revisited the April 24th MOA, and she signed it. I have it right here, what 
day was, she signed it on the, on the, just a couple days ago. So, she signed it on the 19th of May. 
However, I didn’t sign this one because I wanted to ensure that because she’s acting on her powers 
to do so, I didn’t want to proceed in signing it, because, again, this one kind of like oversaw the 
first one, and I also want to ensure that there is going to be either a contract or a purchase order. 
And I indicate that, and I just said that, you know, that would have been the next step. But I didn’t 
get anything back on my end, so, I couldn’t pursue with the second step, like I did with DLS to get 
a purchase order. And so, I refuse to sign it, to this day, and I indicated that to the Legal Counsel. 
And the reason why I refused to sign it, is because I didn’t have any monies to certify that those 
funds are available for that particular service, number one. And number two, that I’m not being 
able to bind the government with this, because I don’t have an identified funding source for it. And 
having said that, the Governor utilized her purchase, emergency purchase, to do that. And so, I 
still didn’t sign it up to this day. So, that’s where we stand. 
 
Chairperson Perez: So, what went wrong with that process? I mean, what should have been done 
to rectify it? 
 

Ms. DeNorcey: What, what should have been done was, I should have gotten it back from HSP. 
So, had I gotten it back from HSP on the date, the first one, which was March, the one I signed 
was March 19. If I had gotten it back from, the first one was signed by the Governor on the 19th, I 
did on the 20th and then HSP didn’t sign it. If I had gotten it back, then I would have, you know, I 
would have executed the next step, which would have been a purchase order. So, having not gotten 
it back, um, you know, I, I, I, I, I was just in the situation where I’m not going to be able to do 
anything if I don’t have any, any, any means of getting any additional funding for this, either. So, 
we acted on an emergency because we needed to get the whole services done, right away, because 
we had all these ports of entry, and all these people coming in from all over the place, from 
Philippines, and we were already having what—five, three cases already in the beginning, and then 
another two cases a couple of days later, and then by the time the Philippine flight came, we already 
were, we knew that all the, the, the whole people were getting infected were from the Philippines. 
And it was very, very, very serious to that point where we didn’t want any other outbreaks. And it 
happened that, having the quarantine facility in place with the nurses there to monitor, and a doctor 
to monitor through HSP, we were able to contain several positive cases that resulted from the 
quarantine sites. And so that’s what I did, and I, I, I seek advice from legal counsel, and that was 
with Shannon Taitano to guide me through, and I continued on. Just like the overtime too, I, I 
didn’t have any funding for the overtime and the Executive Order was very specific that I cannot 
allow overtime for exempted employees, only non-exempt. That was clear in the Executive Order, 
and when I submitted, you know, the request because of the nurses going and protesting, and 
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joining GFT, it is a liability, because they did work, so I took it upon myself to follow the, the rule. 
And so, because they’re exempted employees, all nurses are exempted, the Executive Order 
doesn’t say that they will be covered, so having said that, and having them protest and going out 
there and saying they’re, they’re not paid and all this, I then prepared a memo, as the Executive 
Order says, you can request, you know, for that to be done. So, I requested that memo, but I did 
indicate in a paragraph that the department has no funds that is budgeted, nor does the department 
have any CARES Act for this type of funding. We only received $300,000—a little over 
$300+,000 and that was not committed for overtime pay. So, I indicated that, and I refused, and so 
did my ASO, refused to sign any form that is in CARES [inaudible] to certify funding, because 
there is no funding. And that’s the whole point that I was trying to make, that I was trying to follow 
everything ‘to the t’ and so we didn’t sign the, that, the plan that certifies that funds are available, 
and we just turned it in, and then BBMR rejected it. And then, later on the Governor intervened 
and said we’re gonna find a, a way to pay this, through, you know, perhaps the CARES Act. So, 
we haven’t paid anybody except those non-exempt employees, then, like the nurses and those that 
are pay grade K and below, and up to this day, we still haven’t yet paid those nurses and other staff 
that are pay grade K and above. And that’s what it is. It is what it is.   
 
Chairperson Perez: Thank you, I think this has been very informative. Obviously, we, I feel like 
we need to—uh, sorry, if—yeah. Senator Terlaje, would you like to?  
 
Senator Terlaje: Yeah, can I just confirm a couple things that I, I heard earlier—Mr. Birn, are 
you still there? Is Mr. Birn here? Mr. Birn?  
 
Chairperson Perez: Yeah.  
 
Senator Terlaje: Yes?  
 
Mr. Birn: Yes, I’m still here.  
 
Senator Terlaje: Okay, could you just confirm, did I hear correctly, when you said that payment 
was made on April 3rd for these hotel quarantine facilities, and, did you say that you had CARES 
funds, at that time, and that’s what you paid it out of? Or that you will pay it out of CARES Act 
funds? What was used on April 3rd?  
 
Mr. Birn: Yes, we are using, we will be using CARES Act funds and yes, we did have the funds, 
we had all the funds by April 16th. 
 
Senator Terlaje: April 16?  
 
Mr. Birn: Yes. 
 
Senator Terlaje: But the payment was made on April 3rd, that’s correct? 
 
Mr. Birn: Yes. Yes, it was.  
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Senator T. Terlaje: So, you are saying that you will, you will use CARES Act funds, but at the 
time that, obviously that that, whatever certification—who certifies, Mr. Birn? Who certified the 
payment? Was that you, or someone else?   
 
Mr. Birn: I do not know…not without…looking. 
 
Senator Terlaje: Oh, Okay…and, um… When, uh, we, I have seen some letters, where the 
Governor, you know, directs payment compensation contemplated, and, uh, you know, directs Mr. 
Lester Carlson and Mr. Edward Birn to make payments and pay invoices. And then it says, “so 
ordered” and so, Mr. Huynh, I guess I wanted to ask you, do you equate these letters with the “so 
ordered” to be an Executive Order pursuant to 10GCA, Chapter 19?  
 
Attorney Huynh: I equate them to the Governor’s orders, [INAUDIBLE] saying?  
 
Senator Terlaje: Executive orders?  
 
Attorney Huynh: No ma’am, executive orders, uh, are defined in the law, that have, uh, various 
requirements.  
 
Senator Terlaje: Alright. 
 
Attorney Huynh: [INAUDIBLE] an order by the executive. 
 
Senator Terlaje: Yeah, I don’t—alright…And then, are you, are you familiar with a federal law 
that allows payment without a contract, Mr. Huynh? 
 
Attorney Huynh: Ma’am, I believe that other, more educated people in that area have answered 
that question today.  
 
Senator Terlaje: Alright. Okay. And then—so, Madam Chair, I just want to thank all of those 
who provided testimony, oh, one more, just one more—Claudia? The federal grants? Do you 
handle procurement for federal grants?  
 
Ms. Acfalle: [INAUDIBLE] 
 
Senator Terlaje: Procurement of supplies, for example for the grants? 
 
Ms. Acfalle: Yes, I do.  
 
Senator Terlaje: Pardon? 
 
Ms. Acfalle: Yes, I do. 
 
Senator Terlaje: Alright. So, those federal grants, they go through our regular procurement, they 
abide by our procurement laws?  
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Ms. Acfalle: Correct, our local laws.  
 
Senator Terlaje: Alright, Madam Chair, I want to thank all of them, everyone who’s been here 
today. I’m sure we still have questions, but I want to thank you, for those who have cooperated. I 
still find that, you know, we have attorneys that are playing, or, you know, in a role of, like, giving 
advice, but we need, we need, also, I mean, you know, if the procurement had gone through GSA, 
for example, Claudia has to answer any questions regarding that procurement. You could not 
claim, you know, attorney-client privilege and then, hide any part of that procurement. Same thing, 
you know, if it had been procured, for example, by Linda DeNorcey. And I know that, you know, 
Public Health deals with these federal funds a lot, so they, they don’t do it without contracts, and 
they don’t, you know, they follow the law ‘to a t’. And so, and they would never, I think, say they 
could not answer a question. And that’s probably why our Guam law really puts this type of 
authority, you know, with these government employees. And if we had asked the AG who’s not 
here tonight, you know, was the procurement illegal? You know, probably we’re gonna get the 
analysis that there’s some, I don’t know, from what I’ve heard tonight, there’s some, you know, 
federal law that says we don’t need contracts when we’re using federal funds, and that we don’t 
need to follow local procurement statutes when we’re using federal funds, but the sad part about 
it, is, if they are correct, and we are going to spend these CARES Act funds without using any 
local procurement laws or abiding by any of them, you know, we’re, we forego reimbursement by 
FEMA. At least according to, you know, how it’s been done in the past, unless they create new 
rules. Forgoing this reimbursement by FEMA really leaves us, you know, very limited choices 
when, we’re using CARES money that we could be using on other things. For example, aid to 
over, the over 16,000 employees that have been, that are on the record, today, without jobs. The 
estimates go up to 30,000. And that’s really the downside of this. It’s like, by limiting our 
procurement ability or, you know, by not following certain procedures, we limit how…We limit 
our choices, and we’re limited now, to using CARES Act, so that we can argue that we didn’t need 
to follow any of the other laws. And, unfortunately, because I think we could have got FEMA 
reimbursement for quarantine facilities, it seems like a very consistent use of, you know, FEMA 
reimbursement funds, if we had followed our regular law, so, I want to thank you Madam Chair 
for this hearing. I find it very [inaudible].  
 
Chairperson Perez: Thank you, Senator Terlaje. Yeah, Senator Moylan?  
 
Senator Terlaje: Mr. Birn? Mr. Birn? Mr. Birn, did you find out who certified the payment?  
 
Mr. Birn: No, senator.  
 
Senator Terlaje: I mean it— [INAUDIBLE] 
 
Mr. Birn: I’d have to go back into the record… 
 
Senator Terlaje: Oh. Okay. 
 
Chairperson Perez: Thank you, Senator Terlaje. Senator Moylan, you have the floor.  
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Senator Moylan: Thank you, Madam Chair. And I would like to just, continue with your 
questioning, very thorough questioning about procurement. And, going into this, hopefully, I can 
get a direct response. But media stories, we all read the paper, right, reported about hotel suites. 
And, including a presidential suite which included proc—uh, which is probably part of this 
procurement process. So, these, these comments are on the record, of course, and I just want to 
know, is this true? Did we procure a presidential suite? And if so, who resided in these suites, and 
how much did it cost, and who authorized these things, as well? And, final question on that, as 
well, to that hotel. The media reports and, we’re on record, here, and we want to confirm this: was 
the former Chief of Staff, Tony Babauta, in one of those hotel rooms, along with other employees 
of the government? And these individuals who were not under quarantine, who’s paying for these 
hotel rooms? I hope for a response from any of the panelists that’s there, and I do thank the panel 
for, for staying up late with us. And I appreciate their time, and their responses. Thank you, Madam 
Chair. If, if I can get a response from anybody, please. If you’d like me to repeat the question, I’ll 
be happy to. 
 
Attorney Huynh: Sir, if I could, if I could just, uh, I don’t know how to answer your question, 
specifically, because they sound, like, just, comments. But if you’re asking if rooms were 
specifically paid for, uh, they, the whole facility was paid for, based on a formula. And again, I’ll 
refer you back to that, that, um, uh, what do you call it, that…the documents that have been 
disclosed on, on numerous ways. They’re also on our website per the Executive Order. So, I think 
that answers the bulk of your questions. On the other stuff, I, we don’t have that information, sir, 
you’ll have to ask the person involved. Not, not anybody else that is not. 
 
Senator Moylan: Okay. Mr., Attorney Haig, thank you. So, what we’re saying is, we purchased 
these rooms from that hotel, and we don’t know if we purchased the suite, you know, the infamous 
19th floor? Nor can we confirm that if, [inaudible] if ever, whichever— 
 
Attorney Huynh: [INAUDIBLE] sir… 
 
Senator Moylan: The Chief of Staff of the Governor was in one of these rooms, and, nor do we 
know who’s…well, I understand, we’re paying for it. But did we actually purchase the suite? And 
was, was there…why did we purchase this suite? What was the purpose of this suite? 
 
Mr. Branch: Senator, we are trying to answer your question as best as we can. So, if it is a 
question, rather than accusation, we can say that all the rooms in the hotel were purchased for the 
quarantine facility under the formula already disclosed in documents which have been made 
public. That is a direct answer to your question. As to your insinuations or accusations, we have 
no comment on that.  
 
Senator Moylan: Okay, I’m, I’m not accusing. I’m just reiterating what is published. So, I, I would 
like to ask the question, but I understand it, it…please, please note, it’s not an accusation. I just 
wanted confirmation, yay or nay. But if you want me to refer back to your documents 
[INAUDIBLE]— 
 
Mr. Branch: [INAUDIBLE] 
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Senator Moylan: I understand, if it’s from the, if it’s from lobby, and to the garage, and to the 19th 
floor, if that’s what we purchased, and we don’t understand why we purchased the 19th floor and 
the suites, and what’s the purpose is, for. If you want me to refer to your documents, alright. Then 
I understand. Thank you.  
 
Mr. Branch: If, if you are obsessed with the 19th floor of the Pacific Star, I advise that you visit 
it. Otherwise, none of us have been there.  
 
Senator Moylan: Thank you to, uh, the response, and thank you Madam Chair. 
 
Chairperson Perez: Thank you, Senator Moylan. So, I think, you know, before we close, I just 
would like to, perhaps, you know, is there a way that we can coordinate the procurement? What is 
the plan, moving forward? I mean, considering there were issues with unpaid vendors, and it had 
to do, there was some connection to the lack of contracts, which, to me, has not materialized. I 
haven’t seen a signed contract, regarding quarantine facilities, on the dates when they were first 
procured. And it seems as if nobody seems to want to take responsibility for that, at this point. But, 
I think, moving forward, the Public Health Authority, Linda DeNorcey, Director Linda DeNorcey, 
is the one that is basically, directing the need. Basically, she’s determining the needs of the island 
to respond to this pandemic, and it’s just, it’s, concerning to me that she cannot get funds certified 
for, you know, helping, increasing the medical capacity. I think, you know, really, this is, this 
oversight kind of shows the breakdown of the procurement system, as a whole, in regard to this 
pandemic. And also, perhaps, you know, when we, when we evoke that Emergency Powers Act 
together with Executive Order 2020-03 it even creates more of a confusion as how procurement, 
or perhaps it creates another avenue, which I’m questioning its authorization. But I think that, you 
know, we really need to come at a united front to figure out how are we going to address the 
pandemic with a united front, as a procurement system. So, I think, moving forward, is it, is it fair 
to say that the procurements are going to be led by the Public Authority and then through GSA? 
Because GSA oversees, you know, the procurement of Department of Public Health and Services? 
Is that what we’re gonna, is that how we’re gonna move forward, at this point?  
 
Attorney Huynh: Ma’am, are you directing it towards anyone to answer?  
 
Chairperson Perez: Yes. So, if you would like to respond. How are we going to move forward as 
a united, in a united sort of way?  
 
Attorney Huynh: Sure. I think the Governor did write you a letter, asking you to consider 
changing some of the laws to help expedite things, even on a normal basis. We do have some 
people that we think, that could explain the federal GSA part of things, that might help the 
Government of Guam procure more quickly on a traditional sense, and even in an emergency 
sense. In terms of, you keep on, I think I do need to clear up, I don’t think that the Director, as a 
Public Health Authority, has said anything except for we needed quarantine sites, we needed all 
of these various things that we ended up getting, and, um, how you want to decide whether or not 
that was allowed or not is a different question, but I do, I do think that it’s important to know that 
there were, there are agreements in place, and documented. They are, they have been sent to you, 
they have been posted on our website. They do fully articulate every intent, and how monies were 
spent, and I don’t think it’s a fair assessment to keep on saying that the Public Health Authority 
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didn’t know what was, um, didn’t allow this; that there was no sense in taking care of government 
funds, and that there was no, uh, there is no documents in place. You have all those items ma’am. 
 
Chairperson Perez: Yeah, if I can make a correction, I don’t have all the documents. I was only 
sent the unsigned contracts, so I don’t have the complete so-called ‘procurement purchase record’, 
which is a new term for me. To me, there is no definition in procurement law, and I do not have a 
complete purchase record. And so, it’s, that’s what, you know, with the evoking of the Emergency 
Powers Act, that’s what I’m saying, there is a gap between procurement law and the Emergency 
Powers Act. And there is [INAUDIBLE]— 
 
Attorney Huynh: Sure. [INAUDIBLE] 
 
Chairperson Perez: [INAUDIBLE] Agreement— 
 
Attorney Huynh: Oh. I’m sorry [INAUDIBLE] 
 
Chairperson Perez: And I just want to clarify, that I did not receive the full procurement file, or 
in your case, ‘purchasing file’, which still needs to be defined. And my, I was not stating there was 
[inaudible], I was stating that we need to work as a united front, so that we address the pandemic, 
that is the priority, with the direction of the Public Health Authority, under Linda DeNorcey, and 
that there is a prescribed procedure, a procurement that GovGuam is going to follow through GSA, 
because GSA oversees line agencies, including the Department Public Health and Social Services, 
including the Office of the Governor, including Civil Defense, Office Homeland Security. This is, 
this is something that we need to work and hammer down, and in regard to federal law, I did not 
get the impression that there was a clear guidance by our government of what that is, and, yeah, 
that needs to be clarified. To me that is un—has not been clarified in this oversight hearing. And I 
would like to work towards where we can, we know what the procedures are, so we do not fall 
into the potential of jeopardizing federal funds. I think that’s ultimately the goal of this, is to learn 
what happened, what were some of the mishaps along the way, what is our concerted effort going 
to be? And so, we don’t fall into the situation where invoices are not paid, contracts, I have not 
seen a contract, yet, of the service, of the leasing of the facilities. And the mere fact that people 
were in the know, and the flags were not raised at the time? So, there has to be somebody who 
stands up the procurement process in this whole affair. But I think what would help is that we have 
a framework that we all agree to. And I think it’s fair to follow local law, that’s what we have, at 
this point, until we come up with something better that we all agree on. Because right now, there 
wasn’t a co—to me, and my understanding, you know, I didn’t have an understanding of what was 
going on in a coordinated fashion. 
 
Ms. Rhodes: Madam Chair, if I can ask a couple of questions? I agree with you, finding a way 
forward. I believe that just this in, not this, per se, this public hearing, oversight hearing. But really, 
more so, the public inquisition, right? With the media inquiries, to the public, to the community, 
to the government, to the senators, all that. I think that it has gone a long time, already. It’s been 
going on for several weeks, and I agree with you that we do need to find a way forward because 
on behalf of GHRA and some hoteliers who have been put into some negative light because of 
this, when they entered in good faith, understanding that they were helping, and, the community, 
and also working together with public/private partnership to provide these services during a very 
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critical time, it is the responsibility for government to follow those procurement rules and to go 
through that, whether it’s a purchase or procurement. I understand everybody’s concerned with 
that and with the timeline, but I do know that there are laws that are also in place that, before you 
enter a contract, you do have to secure the funding, before you sign a contract. But also, that there 
have been different iterations of this contract. One of the reporters wrote to me and said that the 
contracts are on the Governor’s website. And so, I’m gonna be looking at that, you know, I never 
received a personal, a contract, but I know that, had, there have been different iterations because 
they have changed from only quarantine facilities, which all of our contracts, whether it was 
GovGuam or USS Roosevelt, those all started out with just quarantine facilities for asymptomatic 
travelers. And so, those have all changed, to include isolation. So I know that there have been 
several iterations, and it is concerning that if we don’t have copies of those, then these hotels, 
unfortunately, are in a precarious position because again, to have a contract placed without the 
funding is secured before even the CARES Act is a concern because they want to get paid. They 
actually lowered their price, initially, from federal rates which would have qualified under even 
FEMA and so, I’m very concerned as far as the industry is concerned, that, you know, everybody 
stepped up to participate in good faith, provided these services. Unfortunately, you know, two of 
those hotels are not participating today, even with the GSA’s new procurement for the additional 
hotels. But we have to find solutions on a way forward, because there is another Guam law that, 
in lieu of a contract, you have to go with published rates of the hotel. And those published rates 
are generally higher, and those rates are published and in lobby areas, it’s in all of the rooms, and 
you have to look at what the published rate is online. And so, in lieu of contract, you may end up, 
the Government of Guam may end up paying higher rates because these hotels, and you have to 
look at every room and every service rendered during that stay, and so I think it’s very important 
that we move towards completion of this discussion and find ways to really solve this problem and 
to close out the contract terms on these hotels. And, like I stated earlier, it can’t be just the hotels. 
There were other services that were provided outside of the scope of work to provide quarantine 
services. So, if all the other services are approved, like additional meals, laundry services, all of 
the detail from Public Health, GPD, Guam Army National Guard, all of the support staff that 
provided services, how did those get approval, but not the hotel contracts? I think it’s very 
important that, if you’ve already authorized funds for all of those, that the hotels should be included 
in that authorization, because they have already rendered the service and they have been acting in 
good faith. And it’s been, already, a long period and it’s already hard enough for businesses to be 
closed down and losing money, where these businesses have been providing a huge community 
service, in providing shelter-in-place during a very critical time, and it was where they give up the 
entire building. And so, where they couldn’t participate in other lodging services like with the 
military, with the USS Roosevelt. So, I think that we had to come up with the solutions that are 
correct, but in how we get there, I think is more important at this point, knowing that these were, 
these were purchased under that Emergency Order, and then how do the other services, the 
ancillary services, how did those get authorized or paid out? But from what I thought I heard in a 
press conference a couple days ago, I thought all the payments were rendered to the hotels, because 
the hotels were expecting to get paid before the new contracts went into place for Days Inn and 
Santa Fe. So, if, can somebody answer that question, if the hotels finally received a signed contract, 
as well as, if they received payment before the new, the new contracts went into place, into effect? 
 
Chairperson Perez: So that would be a question for, perhaps, either Claudia or Edward Birn. Can 
you answer that question? 
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Mr. Birn: I can answer, as far as payment, is that, all the hotels, payments was released, I believe 
one of them was on the 20th, the remainder on the 19th and the EFT, the electronic funds transfers, 
either arrived today or tomorrow morning. 
 
Ms. Rhodes: But that’s the complete payment, there aren’t no outstanding invoices? Is— 
 
Mr. Birn: I can’t tell you that, I can only tell you what I paid, the invoices that I have. 
 
Ms. Rhodes: Are there are any outstanding invoices for the ancillary services? 
 
Mr. Birn: Um, Ms. Rhodes, I don’t believe I have to answer your questions, may you address your 
question through the senator?  
 
Ms. Rhodes: Sure, I mean—  
 
Chairperson Perez: So, yeah. 
 
Ms. Rhodes: We are all taxpayers. So… 
 
Chairperson Perez: Yeah, so, if you want me to ask the question on behalf of Mary, the question 
you just heard, are there any outstanding payments to ancillary services, Director Birn? 
 
Mr. Birn: Not for the invoices I have. 
 
Chairperson Perez: Is there a contract associated with those invoices? 
 
Mr. Birn: That’s not something I have knowledge of. I told you before, senator, that, um, I had an 
instruction from Governor, you asked, you also got [INAUDIBLE] counsel about that instruction, 
and I followed that instruction.  
 
Senator Perez: Regarding emergency purchases, is that correct?  
 
Mr. Birn: Regarding payment.  
 
Chairperson Perez: Alright. So, are there any further questions? Okay, so we’ll probably have 
another follow-up to see, and I hopefully would like to follow up with the procurement record on 
all of these types of emergency-related purchases. So, I just want to thank everybody who stayed 
on, and I appreciate everybody’s contribution and questions, and I’ll be looking forward to seeing 
more of a collaborative, coordinated effort that is aligned with local laws and also, as well as 
federal laws. So, I do appreciate everybody’s attendance today. Si Yu'os Ma'åse'.  
 
Chairperson Perez adjourned the virtual oversight hearing at 10:18pm. 
 

Written Testimonies:  
• Office of the Governor 
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• Edward Birn, Director, Department of Administration 
 
 
III.  FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 

 

The Committee on Environmental, Revenue and Taxation, and Procurement finds that during the 
oversight hearing the Office of the Governor maintained the position that procurement for 
quarantine facilities were done proper. The Governors Legal Counsel declared attorney/client 
privileges and read the submitted testimony. It was stated that the Organic Act of Guam allows the 
Governor to act whatever way possible to protect the health and safety of the people. Title 10, 
Chapter 19, Guam Code Annotated allowed the Governor to direct her Legal Counsel “whatever 
she thought was fit at that time” and that she was the procuring officer. 
 
The Committee finds that same attorney/client privilege was declared with the Attorney General’s 
Office. It was explained that because the Governor’s Office sought assistance from the OAG 
attorney/client privilege was triggered. Therefore, clarifications for procurement rules and regs 
could not be vetted because of that privilege. The Committee was not able to confirm if the OAG 
reviewed any form of contracts related to quarantine facilities, if the Office of the Governor and 
her Legal Counsel properly suspended any law or rule for that emergency, if the payment of hotels 
with no contract contradicts is lawful or if Executive Oder No. 2020-23 does suspend statutes, 
orders and rules and regulations. This brings into question the role of the OAG. If the OAG is 
pulled into attorney/client privilege than who’s responsibility is it to review contacts over 
$500,000, as is their responsibility dictated by law. 
 
The Committee also finds that during questions from the Chairperson and other members, the 
following issues come about: 

• FEMA reimbursements 
• No definition of procurement or purchase under Title 10, Emergency Powers 
• Tier 2 clinics have not been paid 
• There were holding fees for unused room 
• Guam Hotel and Restaurant Association were not involved in meetings and negotiations 

with hotels 
• Director Linda DeNorcey signatures were used on letters, but letters were never issued 

 
The Committee further finds that Title 5, Guam Code Annotated (procurement) and Title 10, 
Chapter 19, Guam Code Annotated (emergency powers) don’t speak to the same procurement. 
Title 10 doesn’t define procurement or mention procurement, but it does state “emergency 
purchase.” “Emergency purchase” is also not defined in the section. This conflicting language 
creates a “gray” area for implementation of emergency powers and procurement. 
 
The Committee finds the Guam Hotel and Restaurant Association didn’t lead the government of 
Guam to the Pacific Star. GHRA was involved in discussions in January and responded to a query 
in March. Pacific Star didn’t opt to be a part of the initial query for quarantine facilities. GHRA 
was also part of the first initial meeting but stated after that Pacific Star and Governor’s Legal 
Counsel meet alone. 
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The Committee further finds that numerous claims state Executive Order No. 2020-03 suspends 
statue, orders, rules and regulations that prevent, hinder or delay necessary action to respond to the 
emergency. This does show that procurement was not done according to the procurement law 
because of the claims that law was suspended. However, the Director of DPHSS contradicted that 
suspension by not requesting for the procurement law to be bypassed. That same Executive Order 
did not state specifically what was being suspended. 
 
The Committee also finds funds were certified prior to there being a contract. This brings to 
question, if funds were certified, why is CARES Act funding needed? Certifying funds states that 
money is available to be used. 
 
The Committee recommends that Title 5 and Title 10, Chapter 19, need to speak of the same 
procurement. The clarification of law would make any form of procurement or emergency 
purchase follow the same statute of emergency procurement. Eliminating the “gray” area would 
allow all those involved, even in a state of emergency, to be on the same page. 

The Committee also recommends proper training for those involved in any form of procurement. 
This same situation was audited by the Office of Public Accountability in OPA Report No. 19-04. 
OPA “recommends all directors and administrators of line and autonomous agencies, mayors, and 
their procurement personnel obtain the required training and certifications according to their 
procurement capacity.” This training ensures that procurement is being done properly and by the 
proper authority.  

The Committee moreover will continue to seek further guidance from local procurements experts 
in both the private and government sectors.  




